© Adis International Limited, All rights reserved.

# Thalomid® (Thalidomide) Capsules

### A Review of the First 18 Months of Spontaneous Postmarketing Adverse Event Surveillance, Including Off-Label Prescribing

Todd E. Clark, Norma Edom, Janice Larson and Laura J. Lindsey

Celgene Corporation, Drug Safety Department, Warren, New Jersey, USA

#### Contents

Abstract
1. Thalomid $^{ ext{@}}$ (Thalidomide) Pharmacokinetics and Metabolism
2. Thalomid <sup>®</sup> Marketing Status
3. Adverse Events
3.1 Common Spontaneously Reported Adverse Events
3.1.1 Drowsiness/Sedation/Asthenia
3.1.2 Rash
3.1.3 Peripheral Oedema
3.1.4 Paraesthesia
3.1.5 Dizziness/Hypotension/Bradycardia
3.1.6 Constipation
3.1.7 Dyspnoea
3.1.8 Leucopenia
3.2 Thromboembolic Events
3.3 Serious Unexpected Adverse Events
3.3.1 Seizures
3.3.2 Stupor
3.3.3 Hallucinations
3.3.4 Hepatic Failure
3.3.5 Coma
3.3.6 Stevens-Johnson Syndrome
3.3.7 Skin Ulcers
3.3.8 Paranoid Reaction
4. Conclusions

#### **Abstract**

The sedative/hypnotic thalidomide was withdrawn from the worldwide market nearly 40 years ago, because of its teratogenic and neurotoxic effects. Thalidomide was later found to very effectively suppress erythema nodosum leprosum (ENL). The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved Thalomid® (thalidomide) capsules for the acute treatment of the cutaneous manifestations of moderate to severe ENL. Thalidomide is currently under investigation for the treatment of a wide variety of diseases, including conditions thought to have an inflammatory or immune basis, malignancies and complications of infection with HIV. Interest in the potential anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory and anti-

angiogenic effects of thalidomide has resulted in off-label use of prescription thalidomide.

During the first 18 months of spontaneous postmarketing adverse event surveillance for Thalomid®, 1210 spontaneous postmarketing adverse event reports were received for patients treated with prescription thalidomide for all therapeutic indications, including off-label use. The most common adverse events spontaneously reported would have been expected on the basis of the current Thalomid® labelling/product information.

The current labelling/product information reflects what was known about the risks associated with thalidomide therapy in limited patient populations at the time of the approval of Thalomid<sup>®</sup>. With the postmarketing use of thalidomide in populations other than patients with ENL, it becomes increasingly important to identify patient groups that may be particularly susceptible to specific adverse drug effects and to identify conditions under which specific adverse events may be more likely to occur. Oncology patients may represent a patient population with increased susceptibility to thalidomide-associated adverse effects, including thromboembolic events. Consideration of the spontaneous postmarketing safety surveillance data may help to identify and characterise factors associated with increased risk in this and other patient groups.

Serious unexpected adverse events reported with sufficient frequency to signal previously undetected product-event associations for which there may potentially be plausible evidence to suggest a causal relationship have included seizures and Stevens-Johnson syndrome. The potential effects of thalidomide on wound healing are also being closely monitored.

Premarketing human clinical trials of drug products are inherently limited in their ability to detect adverse events. Broader postmarketing experience with thalidomide in more varied patient populations and more experience in the setting of long term thalidomide use will increase our ability to detect rare adverse events and to identify signals that may need to be evaluated in more controlled settings.

Thalidomide (α-phthalimidoglutarimide) was marketed in the 1950s and early 1960s as an oral sedative/sleep aid in approximately 42 countries worldwide. Notable for its prompt onset of action and apparent safety, thalidomide gained rapid popularity among both physicians and patients as a purportedly safe alternative to barbiturates. Concerns raised by emerging reports of the development of peripheral neuropathies in patients treated with thalidomide were soon superseded by reports of an epidemic of congenital malformations associated with maternal thalidomide usage. All Thalidomide was withdrawn from the market worldwide by 1962, remaining available only for limited research purposes.

Sheskin,<sup>[5]</sup> in 1965, was the first to report that thalidomide suppresses erythema nodosum leprosum (ENL), a complication of the lepromatous form of Hansen's disease. Thalidomide has no direct action against *Mycobacterium leprae* but is believed to exert its effect in ENL through anti-inflammatory/immunomodulatory mechanisms. <sup>[6]</sup> Interest in the potential immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effects of thalidomide has led to new studies of the drug in other conditions thought to have an inflammatory or immune basis.

Thalidomide selectively inhibits tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) production by enhancing the degradation of TNF $\alpha$  messenger RNA.<sup>[7]</sup> In ENL patients, thalidomide has been shown to reduce serum levels of TNF $\alpha$ .<sup>[8]</sup> The effects of thalidomide on TNF $\alpha$  reported in the published literature appear to vary in different underlying disease states and also within the same diseases, depending on the

study methodology and duration of thalidomide therapy. Studies *in vitro* suggest that thalidomide can either enhance or suppress the synthesis of TNF $\alpha$ , depending on the type of cells stimulated. [9,10] In studies of the immunological and metabolic effects of thalidomide in HIV-seropositive patients, plasma levels of TNF $\alpha$  increased significantly with thalidomide treatment, despite positive clinical effects. [11,12] The data potentially suggest that thalidomide may exert a bidirectional, dosedependent effect on TNF $\alpha$  production, depending on the target cell type and the mechanisms of cellular activation involved.

The anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties of thalidomide may not be restricted to selective alterations in the regulation of TNF $\alpha$  production. Multiple immunomodulatory effects of thalidomide have been demonstrated in vitro and in vivo. Preincubation of normal human polymorphonuclear leucocytes with thalidomide caused a dose-independent inhibition of chemotaxis, but direct addition of the drug to the attractant serum failed to produce such inhibition.[13] Thalidomide also significantly decreased monocyte phagocytosis in vitro without apparent cytotoxicity<sup>[14]</sup> and inhibited proliferative T cell responses. [15] In vivo, thalidomide suppressed immunoglobulin M antibody production in a murine system<sup>[16]</sup> and decreased circulating immunoglobulin levels in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus.[17] Thalidomide, in human-equivalent doses, has been shown to suppress neutrophil infiltration in the carrageenin rat paw oedema model, resulting in an anti-inflammatory effect.[18] In healthy male volunteers, thalidomide produced a decrease in the circulating helper T cell to suppressor T cell ratio (CD4+: CD8+) as a result of a highly significant decrease in CD4+ lymphocytes and an apparent increase in suppressor CD8+ lymphocytes.<sup>[19]</sup> In patients with ENL, thalidomide's effectiveness was consistently associated with a decrease in circulating CD4+ lymphocytes.<sup>[20]</sup> Thalidomide enhanced the synthesis of interleukin-2 (IL-2) in cultures of peripheral blood mononuclear cells from healthy donors and from HIV-infected patients.[21,22] Increased production of IL-2 by activated T cells has been suggested as a potential mechanism through which thalidomide may exert some of its immunomodulatory effects.<sup>[22]</sup>

Orally administered thalidomide has been shown in several animal models to be an inhibitor of angiogenesis induced by basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF). [23,24] Because angiogenesis is a prerequisite for rapid tumour growth and metastasis, [25-29] thalidomide is currently under investigation as an inhibitor of angiogenesis in humans for the treatment of tumours that are not responsive to standard therapy.

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the Thalomid<sup>®</sup> capsule formulation of thalidomide for US prescription market availability on 16 July 1998.

# Thalomid® (Thalidomide) Pharmacokinetics and Metabolism

In addition to the studies from the current published literature, the pharmacokinetics of Thalomid® (thalidomide) capsules have been evaluated in 5 clinical studies in healthy male volunteers, Hansen's disease patients and HIV-seropositive patients. Intravenous pharmacokinetic studies have not been performed with thalidomide, because of its low solubility in acceptable solvents. Therefore, the absolute bioavailability, true elimination halflife, systemic clearance and volume of distribution of thalidomide have not been conclusively determined. The Thalomid® formulation of thalidomide has a pharmacokinetic profile best described by a 1-compartment model with first-order absorption and elimination.[30,31] At lower doses, the extent of Thalomid® absorption from the gastrointestinal tract is proportional to the dose. At doses in excess of 200mg, a plateauing of peak plasma concentration is observed with an associated delay in the time to peak concentration. The elimination halflife for higher Thalomid® doses becomes a function of absorption rate limitations, with the elimination rate being faster than the absorption rate. [30,32] The following is a summary of known pharmacokinetic data for thalidomide from all currently

available sources, including the unpublished clinical pharmacokinetic studies: [30-35] molecular weight = 258.23; peak serum concentrations after oral administration are reached at  $3.2 \pm 1.4$  hours; volume of distribution =  $84.1 \pm 32.2$ L; absorption half-life =  $1.03 \pm 0.79$  hours; elimination half-life =  $6.17 \pm 2.56$  hours; total body clearance rate =  $10.9 \pm 1.7$  L/h.

Thalidomide is a nonpolar lipophilic compound and is fairly insoluble (solubility in water = 0.06mg/ml). In human blood, the geometric mean plasma protein binding was 55 and 66%, respectively, for (+)-(R)- and (-)-(S)-thalidomide.<sup>[36]</sup> The urinary excretion of thalidomide has been observed to be approximately  $0.6 \pm 0.22\%$  of a total oral dose over 24 hours, suggesting a predominantly nonrenal route of excretion. After a single 200mg oral dose, thalidomide could be detected in plasma and urine up to 24 hours. Thalidomide was not detected in the urine beyond 48 hours. No thalidomide metabolites were detected in either plasma or urine after 24 hours.[32-34] Thalidomide pharmacokinetics do not to change with long term administration.[31,37]

The safety, efficacy and pharmacokinetics of thalidomide have not been specifically studied in patients with renal impairment. Existing data regarding thalidomide metabolism do not suggest that dosage adjustment should be necessary in patients with renal dysfunction.<sup>[34]</sup> It is not known whether thalidomide is dialysable. In a controlled clinical study of thalidomide in haemodialysis patients with uraemic pruritus, no adverse effects of thalidomide were reported.<sup>[38]</sup> Published case reports of thalidomide therapy in patients with chronic renal insufficiency who did not require dialysis have not suggested any untoward effects of thalidomide on renal function.<sup>[39]</sup> Thalidomide has, however, been commonly reported to cause hypotension.[32,35] Although thalidomide has no known direct action on the kidneys, it is theoretically possible that in marginally hydrated patients or patients at risk for renal dysfunction, the hypotensive effect of thalidomide could cause mild to moderate renal hypoperfusion, resulting in prerenal azotaemia. During therapy with thalidomide, careful monitoring of blood pressure and hydration and cautious use of concomitant nephrotoxic drugs and other drugs that may cause or exacerbate hypotension may be warranted in patients at risk for renal dysfunction.

The safety, efficacy and pharmacokinetics of thalidomide have not been specifically studied in patients with hepatic dysfunction. Thalidomide does not undergo significant hepatic enzyme-dependent metabolism. [32,40,41] In aqueous solution at physiological pH, thalidomide decomposes by spontaneous hydrolysis. [41] *In vitro* studies using a large range of human cloned cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes, rat liver homogenates and human liver homogenates have shown thalidomide to be a poor substrate for CYP-dependent mono-oxygenase reactions, with negligible thalidomide metabolism by CYP isozymes. Thalidomide also did not inhibit the metabolism of any CYP isozyme-specific substrates. [32,40]

Thalidomide is not known to have any drugdrug interactions, but specific drug-drug interactions have not been systematically studied with Thalomid<sup>®</sup>. Thalidomide has been reported to enhance the CNS depressant effects of barbiturates, alcohol, chlorpromazine and reserpine. [42,43] The sedative action of thalidomide is antagonised by methylphenidate and methamphetamine. [42] Steadystate plasma concentrations of thalidomide did not affect the single dose pharmacokinetics of orally administered hormonal contraceptives (ethinyl estradiol and norethindrone). [31]

### 2. Thalomid® Marketing Status

The US is currently the only country in which Thalomid® is approved for marketing. Thalomid® is indicated for acute treatment of the cutaneous manifestations of moderate to severe ENL and for maintenance therapy for the prevention and suppression of the cutaneous manifestations of ENL. Thalomid® is not indicated as monotherapy for such treatment in ENL in the presence of moderate to severe neuritis.

Because of the known teratogenic effects of thalidomide and in an effort to prevent, to the greatest extent possible, any chance of fetal exposure to thalidomide, Thalomid® is approved for marketing only under a special restricted distribution programme mandated by the FDA. Under this programme, the System for Thalidomide Education and Prescribing Safety (S.T.E.P.S.™), only prescribers and pharmacists registered with the programme are allowed to prescribe and dispense thalidomide.[44] In addition, patients must be advised of, agree to, and comply with the requirements of the S.T.E.P.S.<sup>™</sup> programme. To monitor patient compliance with the S.T.E.P.S.<sup>™</sup> programme, all patients must complete the S.T.E.P.S.<sup>™</sup> programme informed consent and participate in a mandatory and confidential surveillance registry. Patient enrolment in the S.T.E.P.S.<sup>™</sup> programme began on 1 October 1998.

Because Thalomid® is approved for marketing only under the restricted distribution system specified by the S.T.E.P.S.™ programme, it is possible to monitor the total number of male and female patients for whom thalidomide has been prescribed. During the first 18 months of market availability, 28 241 prescriptions (both new prescriptions and refills) were filled for 10 456 patients enrolled in the S.T.E.P.S.™ programme. Thalidomide was prescribed for 4776 female patients (approximately 46% of all patients enrolled in the S.T.E.P.S.™ programme). Approximately 16% of the female patients treated with prescription thalidomide were identified to be of childbearing potential.

The mean age of the patients for whom thalidomide was prescribed was 58 years (median age 59 years, range 3 to 95), the mean dose prescribed was 287 mg/day (range 50 to 1600 mg/day) and the mean duration of therapy was 8 weeks. Table I identifies the indications for thalidomide use, as reported by prescribers on the S.T.E.P.S.™ programme enrolment surveys. Although thalidomide is currently approved only for the treatment of ENL, interest in its potential anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory and antiangiogenic effects has resulted in offlabel use of Thalomid®. In particular, approximately

73% of Thalomid<sup>®</sup> use during the first 18 months of market availability has been in patients with malignancies.

#### 3. Adverse Events

Premarketing human clinical trials of drug products are inherently limited in their ability to detect adverse events. Short trial duration, small trial size, narrow study populations and the limited set of therapeutic indications investigated particularly limit the capability of premarketing clinical trials to detect and define the frequency of all important adverse events. The broader population experience available in the postmarketing setting generally confers a greater ability to detect rare adverse events. The current Thalomid® labelling/product information reflects what is known about the risks associ-

**Table I.** Indications for Thalomid<sup>®</sup> (thalidomide) use as reported by prescribers on the System for Thalidomide Education and Prescribing Safety (S.T.E.P.S.  $^{\text{\tiny M}}$ ) programme enrolment surveys

Indication	No. of patients	% of patients
Autoimmune/immunological	621	6
disease		
Behçet's syndrome	101	1
Cancer	7633	73
brain	538	5
breast	198	2
gastrointestinal	627	6
genitourinary	941	9
haematological	326	3
lung	506	5
multiple myeloma	3557	34
skin	209	2
soft tissue	211	2
other	218	2
unspecified	302	3
Crohn's disease	146	1
Dermatological	239	2
Graft versus host disease	116	1
Hansen's disease/erythema nodosum leprosum	24	<1
HIV-related conditions	189	2
Other	641	6
Not reported/not interpretable	746	7
Total patients enrolled in the	10 456	100
S.T.E.P.S. <sup>™</sup> programme	10 430	100
(1/10/1998 to 31/3/2000)		

ated with thalidomide therapy from controlled clinical trials in ENL and HIV-related conditions, from uncontrolled investigational experience with thalidomide in patients with ENL and in patients who are HIV-seropositive and from additional events identified in the published literature or from spontaneous reports from other sources involving the investigational use of thalidomide in various other indications.[32,45] Because many of these reports were derived from uncontrolled clinical experience with thalidomide or from spontaneous reports from investigational populations of unknown size, accurate estimates of frequency cannot be made for the reported events, and a causal relationship between the occurrence of the events and therapy with thalidomide cannot be conclusively established.

During the first 18 months of spontaneous post-marketing adverse event surveillance for Thalomid,<sup>®</sup> 1210 spontaneous postmarketing adverse event reports were received for all therapeutic indications, including off-label use. There have been no reports of pregnancy in any female patients treated with Thalomid<sup>®</sup> capsules during this period. Dividing the number of spontaneous adverse event reports received by the number of patients known to be registered in the S.T.E.P.S.™ programme provides a crude spontaneous postmarketing adverse event reporting rate (CRR) of 11.6%.

The FDA defines a serious adverse event as any undesirable or unintended experience occurring at any drug dose that results in any of the following outcomes: death, a life-threatening event, inpatient hospitalisation or prolongation of existing hospitalisation, a persistent or significant disability/incapacity, or a congenital anomaly/birth defect. Important medical events that may not result in death, a life-threatening event, or inpatient hospitalisation may also be considered serious when, based on appropriate medical judgement, they may jeopardise the patient and may require medical or surgical intervention to prevent one of the outcomes included in the definition of a serious adverse event. [46] Applying the FDA criteria for seriousness, 493 (40.7%) of the spontaneous reports received during the first 18 months of postmarketing safety surveillance

involved serious adverse events. It has been estimated that fewer than 1% of suspected serious adverse drug experiences are reported to the FDA. [47] Potentially, cases reported spontaneously to the Thalomid® postmarketing safety surveillance programme represent only a small portion of the number that have actually occurred, such that the crude spontaneous postmarketing adverse event reporting rate may underestimate the actual incidence of adverse events by up to 100-fold.

## 3.1 Common Spontaneously Reported Adverse Events

Table II identifies the most common postmarketing adverse events that have been spontaneously reported during the first 18 months of market availability of Thalomid<sup>®</sup>. All adverse events are identified using the preferred terms from the Coding Symbols for a Thesaurus of Adverse Reaction Terms (COSTART).<sup>[48]</sup>

#### 3.1.1 Drowsiness/Sedation/Asthenia

The sedative effect of thalidomide may be experienced differently by individual patients. Signs and symptoms commonly attributed to the sedative action of thalidomide include dizziness, weakness/fatigue (COSTART: asthenia), hangover, muscle incoordination, unsteady gait, tremulousness, blurred vision, mood changes and confusion. Somnolence and asthenia were reported from clinical trials in

**Table II.** Most common postmarketing adverse events spontaneously reported for Thalomid<sup>®</sup> (thalidomide) capsules (1 October 1998 to 31 March 2000)

Adverse event	No. of patients	Crude spontaneous postmarketing reporting rate (%)
Somnolence	183	1.8
Rash	143	1.4
Asthenia	127	1.2
Peripheral oedema	110	1.1
Paraesthesia	91	0.87
Dizziness	87	0.83
Constipation	75	0.72
Dyspnoea	69	0.66
Leucopenia	52	0.5
Total patients enrolled	10 456	100

both patients with ENL and patients with HIV-related conditions. The incidence of somnolence and asthenia reported from clinical trials in patients with ENL (thalidomide 50 to 300 mg/day was 37.5% and 8.3%, respectively. From clinical trials among patients with HIV-related conditions, 36.1% of patients treated with thalidomide 100 mg/day and 37.5% of those treated with 200 mg/day reported somnolence. Corresponding reports for asthenia were ≈6 and 22%. The incidence of somnolence and asthenia in HIV-seropositive patients treated with placebo was 11.4 and 2.9%, respectively. [32,45] In a study evaluating the antitumour effect of thalidomide (200 to 800 mg/day) in refractory multiple myeloma, up to 43% of the patients reported somnolence and up to 48% reported weakness or fatigue. [49] The CRR is 1.8% (183 reports) for drowsiness/sedation (COSTART: somnolence) and 1.2% (127 reports) for weakness/fatigue (COSTART: asthenia).

The hypnosedative properties of thalidomide are believed to be due to activation of diencephalic (thalamic and hypothalamic) sleep centres and are dose related. [50,51] Unlike barbiturates, thalidomide does not depress CNS neuronal function via the enhancement of γ-amino butyric acid (GABA)-mediated neurotransmission. [50] Even at high doses, thalidomide does not cause anaesthesia or respiratory depression. [42] The sedative action of thalidomide is antagonised by methylphenidate and methamphetamine. [42] The use of methylphenidate or methamphetamine to counteract thalidomide-associated somnolence has not been evaluated in controlled clinical trials.

Administering thalidomide at bedtime minimises potentially deleterious effects due to excessive daytime somnolence, but patients should be cautioned to avoid situations in which drowsiness could be hazardous. For patients experiencing significant daytime somnolence, it may be necessary to re-evaluate their entire medication regimen and, if clinically appropriate, to consider adjusting the doses of other concomitant medications, including opioid analgesics, antidepressants, anxiolytics and

other sedative/hypnotics that could cause or increase daytime somnolence.

#### 3.1.2 Rash

Rash was reported from clinical trials of thalidomide in both patients with ENL and patients with HIV-related conditions. The incidence of rash reported from clinical trials in patients with ENL (thalidomide 50 to 300 mg/day) was 25%. From clinical trials among patients with HIV-related conditions, 41.6% of those treated with thalidomide 100 mg/day and 43.8% of those receiving 200 mg/day reported rash. The incidence of rash in HIV-seropositive patients treated with placebo was 37.1%. [32,45] In refractory multiple myeloma, rash was reported for up to 26% of the patients. [49] The CRR for rash is 1.4% (143 reports).

The incidence and severity of thalidomideassociated cutaneous reactions may vary depending on the patient's underlying disease state and immune status. The most common rash described in association with thalidomide use is a pruritic, erythematous, macular rash over the trunk, back and proximal extremities, which does not appear to be dosage related.<sup>[51]</sup> The development of rash has been most frequently reported 10 to 14 days after starting therapy with thalidomide.<sup>[51]</sup> The clinical experience with thalidomide in ENL described in the published literature suggests that few patients (<1%) developed a transient, thalidomide-associated allergic dermatitis that could generally be controlled with oral antihistamines and that did not require discontinuation of therapy. When thalidomide therapy was discontinued, the allergic dermatitis usually resolved within 24 hours. Some patients were successfully rechallenged with thalidomide at lower doses.[52]

Published reports suggest that the incidence of thalidomide-associated rash may be higher in patients with AIDS.<sup>[43,53]</sup> This increased incidence appeared to be associated with lower CD4+ T cell counts, and 25% of AIDS patients who developed a thalidomide-associated rash also had known hypersensitivity to cotrimoxazole (trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole).<sup>[51]</sup> Severe thalidomide-associated hypersensitivity reactions have been reported in

HIV-seropositive patients. In some cases, rechallenge with thalidomide resulted in immediate, severe, sepsis-like hypersensitivity reactions with rash, fever, shaking chills, tachycardia and hypotension requiring prompt medical intervention. [51,54] There are currently no controlled data available regarding the incidence of rash in patients with malignancies treated with thalidomide.

Serious dermatological reactions including Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN), which may be fatal, have rarely been reported in association with thalidomide therapy. [55,56] Patients who develop rash during therapy with thalidomide should have prompt medical evaluation. If clinically appropriate, thalidomide therapy should be discontinued. If the rash is exfoliative, purpuric or bullous or if Stevens-Johnson syndrome or TEN is suspected, use of thalidomide should not be resumed.

#### 3.1.3 Peripheral Oedema

Oedema was reported from clinical trials of thalidomide in both patients with ENL and patients with HIV-related conditions. The incidence of oedema reported from clinical trials in patients with ENL (thalidomide 50 to 300 mg/day) was 4.2%. From clinical trials among patients with HIV-related conditions, 8.3% of those treated with thalidomide 100 mg/day and 3.1% of those treated with 200 mg/day reported oedema. The incidence of oedema in HIV-seropositive patients treated with placebo was 2.9%. [32,45] In refractory multiple myeloma, oedema was reported for up to 22% of the patients. [49] The CRR for oedema is 1.1% (110 reports).

Peripheral oedema has been described as a frequent adverse effect of thalidomide in published reports of the investigational use of thalidomide for the treatment of patients with a variety of immunological, inflammatory and oncological conditions. [32,33,43,49,57-62] The mechanism by which thalidomide-associated oedema occurs is unknown. In most published reports, oedema associated with thalidomide therapy has been described as mild and short lived and responded to the temporary discontinuation of therapy until the swelling resolved. In

some cases, diuretics were used successfully in conjunction with thalidomide therapy to control oedema.<sup>[59,61]</sup> The use of diuretics for the treatment of thalidomide-associated oedema has not been evaluated in controlled clinical studies.

As noted in the current Thalomid<sup>®</sup> product labelling/information, thalidomide has been reported in the published medical literature to slightly depress thyroid secretory activity.[33,42,43,45] Cases of hypothyroidism have been reported in association with thalidomide therapy. [63-65] The potential contribution of subclinical hypothyroidism to the adverse effects attributed directly to thalidomide is currently unknown. It may be prudent to perform thyroid function testing in patients with persistent symptoms or first onset of symptoms after prolonged therapy with thalidomide. Hypothyroidism may be a consideration in patients who experience late onset oedema, especially oedema of the pretibial region or peripheral oedema associated with periorbital puffiness.

#### 3.1.4 Paraesthesia

Paraesthesias have been reported to be among the most common and most distressing symptoms of thalidomide-associated peripheral neuropathy. [66] Although neither paraesthesias nor peripheral neuropathy were reported from clinical trials of thalidomide in patients with ENL, in controlled clinical trials among patients with HIV-related conditions, 5.6% of those treated with thalidomide 100 mg/day and 15.6% of those receiving 200 mg/day reported paraesthesias. The incidence of paraesthesia in HIVseropositive patients treated with placebo was 11.4%. Peripheral neuropathy was diagnosed in 8.3% of HIV-seropositive patients treated with thalidomide.[32,45] It is important to note that in advanced AIDS, up to 35% of patients not treated with thalidomide have been reported to have clinical evidence of neuropathy. [67,68] In refractory multiple myeloma, paraesthesias were reported for up to 28% of patients.<sup>[49]</sup>

The CRR for paraesthesia is 0.87% (91 reports). The diagnosis of peripheral neuropathy was confirmed in 39% of the patients for whom paraesthesias were reported. A pre-existing peripheral neu-

Table III. Characteristics of patients with Thalomid® (thalidomide)-associated paraesthesia

Patient characteristics	Patients with paraesthesias	All patients treated
Number of patients	91	10 456
Females (%)	52	46
Mean age (y)	61.5 (range 15-81)	58 (range 3-95)
Paraesthesia reported by a healthcare professional (%)	70	NA
Confirmed diagnosis of peripheral neuropathy (%)	39	Unknown
Diagnosis		
Cancer (%)	84.5	73
multiple myeloma (%)	44	34
Dermatological disease (%)	3.6	2
Autoimmune/Immunological disease (%)	3.6	6
Behçet's syndrome (%)	3.6	1
Crohn's disease (%)	2.4	1
HIV-related disease (%)	1.2	2
Other [Gorham's disease] (%)	1.2	6
History of pre-existing neuropathy (%)	26	Unknown
Pre-existing diabetes mellitus (%)	1.4	Unknown
Pre-existing thyroid disease (%)	8.2	Unknown
Treatment		
Mean duration of treatment to onset of paraesthesia (days)	32 (range 1-202)	NA
Mean daily dose (mg)	293 (range 50-900)	287 (range 50-1600)
Mean total cumulative dose (g)	11 (range 0.15-72)	Unknown
Treatment discontinued (%)	40	Unknown

ropathy predating therapy with thalidomide had been diagnosed in 26% of these patients. The published literature suggests that the incidence of thalidomide-associated peripheral neuropathy is highest in women, elderly patients, immunosuppressed patients, patients with AIDS, patients with underlying malignancies, patients with concurrent underlying chronic illnesses, patients with diabetes mellitus or thyroid disease, and patients treated with higher total cumulative thalidomide doses. [66,69-72] Coadministration of thalidomide with alcohol or other medications known to cause peripheral neuropathy may increase the likelihood for the development of peripheral neuropathy.<sup>[72,73]</sup> Table III summarises the characteristics of patients for whom spontaneous postmarketing reports of paraesthesia have been received.

Thalidomide-associated peripheral neuropathy is a distal symmetric axonopathy, characterised by axonal degeneration without demyelination affect-

ing mainly sensory fibres in the distal lower limbs with progression proximally (dying back phenomenon). [66,70,72,73] Although the pathogenic mechanism responsible for toxic polyneuropathy is not currently known, there is evidence to suggest that it may involve cytokine-mediated (TNFα, IL-1) inhibition of nerve growth factor.<sup>[74]</sup> Thalidomideassociated neuropathy manifests primarily with sensory signs and symptoms, especially in the distal lower limbs. Signs and symptoms may include symmetrical painful paraesthesias of the hands and feet, hyperaesthesia, pallor and coldness of the fingers and toes, and superficial sensory loss (increased thresholds to vibration, temperature, light touch and pin-prick sensations). In more advanced peripheral neuropathy, clinical signs and symptoms may progress to muscle cramps, muscle weakness (especially minor intrinsic foot weakness), postural tremor, decreased muscle stretch reflexes, palmar erythema and brittle nails. [66,73,75,76]

In patients with pre-existing neuropathies or those at increased risk for the development of peripheral neuropathy, consideration should be given to baseline evaluation and monitoring using electrophysiological nerve conduction studies and/or quantitative sensory testing devices. [57,70] The earliest finding, which may predate clinical symptoms, may be increased somatosensory evoked potential latency after sural nerve stimulation. Sensory nerve action potential amplitudes are decreased (sural, median and peroneal nerves). [69,75] There is relative conservation of conduction velocities. [66,69]

Although the correlation between the development of peripheral neuropathy and the cumulative dose of thalidomide is not clear, there is a suggestion of dose dependence, with the development of neuropathy after cumulative thalidomide doses of 40 to 50g. [57,77,78] Neuropathy has, however, been reported with cumulative thalidomide doses of only 3 to 6g, and individual susceptibility has been suggested to be more relevant to the development of neuropathy than dose or duration of thalidomide therapy. [69,78]

Sensory symptoms of peripheral neuropathy often improve after discontinuation of thalidomide therapy but may not resolve completely.<sup>[57,66,70,78]</sup> Electrophysiological abnormalities may persist despite resolution of symptoms.<sup>[57,66]</sup> Signs and symptoms of neuropathy may continue to progress or first appear 8 to 16 weeks after discontinuation of the drug (coasting phenomenon).[66,70,76] Continuation of therapy may result in progressive or permanent neuropathic changes. [70,77,78] If clinically appropriate, thalidomide therapy should be discontinued with the first signs or symptoms of neuropathy. Treatment with thalidomide should be reinitiated only if the neuropathy resolves completely. Patients who discontinue thalidomide with the earliest signs or symptoms of neuropathy are more likely to experience rapid and complete recovery.<sup>[57,66]</sup>

#### 3.1.5 Dizziness/Hypotension/Bradycardia

Dizziness, hypotension, orthostatic hypotension and bradycardia have all been reported in association with thalidomide therapy. Dizziness was reported from clinical trials in both patients with

ENL and patients with HIV-related conditions. The incidence of dizziness reported from clinical trials in patients with ENL (thalidomide 50 to 300 mg/day) was 4.2%. From clinical trials among patients with HIV-related conditions, 19.4% of those treated with thalidomide 100 mg/day and 18.7% treated with 200 mg/day reported dizziness. [32,45] In refractory multiple myeloma, dizziness was reported for up to 28% of patients. [49] The CRR for dizziness is 0.83% (87 reports). In most cases, it is not clear from the spontaneous reports whether dizziness was associated with hypotension or was a consequence of excessive sedation with normal blood pressure.

Hypotension and bradycardia have been reported from the uncontrolled investigational use of thalidomide in patients with ENL and in HIVseropositive patients.[32,45] The CRR for hypotension and bradycardia are 0.32% (33 reports) and 0.12% (13 reports), respectively. The mechanism by which thalidomide produces dizziness, hypotension, orthostatic hypotension or bradycardia in humans has not been conclusively determined. In preclinical investigations in animal species, thalidomide in doses up to 125 mg/kg did not affect heart rate, blood pressure or respiration. No significant effects on the cardiovascular, respiratory or autonomic nervous systems could be elicited.[42] Some investigators have suggested that the occurrence of dizziness and hypotension may be related to the central sedative action of thalidomide. [43] In asymptomatic HIV-seropositive individuals, single oral 100 and 200mg doses of thalidomide consistently resulted in significant, dose-dependent decreases in supine systolic and diastolic blood pressure.[35] Peak decreases in blood pressure occurred between 1 and 2 hours after administration, followed by a recovery to baseline between 4 and 8 hours after administration. Decreases in blood pressure were not accompanied by reflex tachycardia, and the baroreceptor reflex after orthostatic changes remained intact. These observations suggest that the hypotensive effect of thalidomide probably did not involve any direct action on the peripheral vasculature but was most likely centrally mediated, possibly via activation of the vasovagal pathway. [35]

Administering thalidomide at bedtime potentially minimises symptoms due to decreases in blood pressure, but patients should be cautioned to avoid situations in which dizziness could be hazardous and to sit upright for several minutes before standing up from a recumbent position. For patients experiencing significant dizziness, hypotension and/or bradycardia, it may be necessary to reevaluate their entire medication regimen and, if clinically appropriate, to consider adjusting the doses of other concomitant medications, including diuretics, vasodilators, phosphodiesterase type 5 (PDE5) inhibitors, antihypertensive agents, other cardiovascular medications or agents for prostatic hypertrophy (α-adrenergic blockers) that could contribute to or exacerbate dizziness, hypotension or bradycardia. Concurrent therapy with thalidomide and diuretics, vasodilators, PDE5 inhibitors, antihypertensive agents, α-adrenergic blockers and other cardiovascular medications has not been evaluated in controlled clinical trials.

Although thalidomide has no known direct action on the kidney, patients with impaired renal function or other underlying risk factors for renal dysfunction, hypotension or dehydration may be at increased risk for mild to moderate renal hypoperfusion resulting from the hypotensive effect of thalidomide. Careful monitoring of blood pressure and hydration and cautious use of concomitant nephrotoxic drugs and other drugs that may cause or exacerbate hypotension are probably warranted in at-risk patients treated with thalidomide. Because thalidomide may depress thyroid secretory activity, [33,42,43,45] hypothyroidism may be a consideration in patients with persistent symptoms or first onset of symptoms after prolonged therapy with thalidomide, particularly significant bradycardia.

#### 3.1.6 Constipation

Constipation was reported from clinical trials of thalidomide in both patients with ENL and patients with HIV-related conditions. The incidence of constipation reported from clinical trials in patients with ENL (thalidomide 50 to 300 mg/day) was 4.2%. From clinical trials among patients with

HIV-related conditions, 2.8% of those treated with thalidomide 100 mg/day and 9.4% treated with 200 mg/day reported constipation. Constipation was not reported by patients who were HIV-seropositive treated with placebo. [32,45] In refractory multiple myeloma, constipation was reported by up to 59% of patients. [49] The CRR for constipation is 0.72% (75 reports).

Although the mechanism by which thalidomide causes constipation is not currently known, it is suspected to involve neuromuscular colonic inertia with hypotonia.<sup>[42]</sup> Management of thalidomideassociated constipation has generally consisted of the use of mild laxatives, especially emollient or lubricant laxatives.[11,59] Constipation was also relieved by temporarily discontinuing therapy with thalidomide for 1 to 2 days.<sup>[59]</sup> Patients who can tolerate them may also benefit from mild stimulant laxatives. In adequately hydrated patients with normal renal function, saline or hyperosmotic laxatives may be tried. In severe cases, treatment as for acute, nontoxic megacolon with bowel evacuants and/or gastrointestinal prokinetic agents may need to be considered. In appropriate patients, consideration may be given to initiating a bowel regimen with a mild laxative at the start of thalidomide therapy, in an effort to prevent constipation. Concurrent therapy with thalidomide and laxatives, bowel evacuants or gastrointestinal prokinetic agents has not been evaluated in controlled clinical studies. Because thalidomide may depress thyroid secretory activity,[33,42,43,45] hypothyroidism may be a consideration in patients with persistent symptoms or first onset of symptoms after prolonged therapy with thalidomide, particularly severe or refractory constipation.

#### 3.1.7 Dyspnoea

Although dyspnoea has previously been reported in association with thalidomide therapy, the frequency of spontaneous postmarketing reports has been somewhat unexpected. Dyspnoea was not reported from clinical trials of thalidomide in ENL or HIV-related conditions. Previously reported cases of dyspnoea had been identified from events reported in the published literature or from spon-

taneous reports from other sources involving the uncontrolled investigational use of thalidomide in various other indications.<sup>[32,45]</sup> The CRR for dyspnoea is 0.66% (69 reports).

The pathogenic mechanism or mechanisms underlying dyspnoea occurring during therapy with thalidomide are not currently known. 61 of the spontaneous postmarketing cases of dyspnoea (88%) were reported for patients treated with thalidomide for malignancies. 15 of these patients (25%) had pulmonary malignancies. Reports of 15 cases of mild 'shortness of breath' were received directly from consumers. In these cases, the patients had not been evaluated by healthcare professionals, and no aetiologies for the dyspnoea were identified. In 26 of the reported cases (38%), the treating physicians identified specific aetiologies for the patients' dyspnoea and assessed the reported events as not having been related to treatment with thalidomide. The aetiologies that were identified included anaemia, decompensation of pre-existing congestive heart failure, decompensation of pre-existing chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, pre-existing cardiac ischaemia, multiple myeloma with pre-existing cardiac and pulmonary amyloidosis, progressive malignancies with pre-existing pulmonary and/or pleural involvement, malignant pleural effusion, viral respiratory tract infection, pneumonia, allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis, asthmatic bronchitis, pulmonary vasculitis, acute respiratory distress syndrome, sepsis, anxiety, and docetaxel-related toxicity. Two patients had hypersensitivity reactions to thalidomide associated with dyspnoea, fever, rash, hypotension, and/or facial and laryngeal oedema.

13 of the patients for whom dyspnoea was spontaneously reported (19%) had radiographic examinations of the chest. In 12 of the 13 cases the radiographic evaluations supported specific aetiologies for the patients' dyspnoea. Eight patients had cardiac evaluations including electrocardiograms, echocardiograms, cardiac stress tests, gated blood pool imaging (MUGA), Holter monitoring and/or cardiac enzyme evaluations. In three cases, cardiac evaluations supported specific aetiologies for the

patients' dyspnoea. The remaining 5 patients had normal cardiac evaluations.

Identification of a specific cause for dyspnoea is complicated by the multivariable pathophysiology and the variety of CNS, peripheral nervous system, lung and chest wall receptors believed to contribute to the subjective sensation of breathlessness. Diagnosis of the dyspnoeic patient is often difficult owing to similar presentations of different pathological processes and to the potential contributions of other concurrent diseases. Asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, pneumonia, congestive heart failure, cardiac ischaemia, interstitial lung disease and psychogenic dyspnoea account for approximately 85% of all cases of shortness of breath.<sup>[79]</sup>

Dyspnoea may be a prominent feature of the acute, subacute and chronic forms of drug-induced pulmonary disease. [80] Aside from hypersensitivity syndromes, interstitial pneumonitis with or without fibrosis is the most common pattern of injury described with drug-induced pulmonary disease. Direct cytotoxic effects of drugs or their metabolites on the respiratory epithelium, endothelium or interstitium evoke an inflammatory response leading to interstitial pneumonitis and, if persistent, to fibrosis. [80] None of the 13 patients who had radiographic examinations of the chest was reported to have had radiographic findings suggestive of interstitial lung disease.

Oedema has been described as a frequent adverse effect of thalidomide from controlled clinical trials and in published reports of uncontrolled investigational experience with thalidomide. [32,33,43,45,49,57-62] The mechanism by which thalidomide-associated oedema occurs is unknown. Pulmonary oedema has been reported from uncontrolled clinical experience with the investigational use of thalidomide in HIV-seropositive patients. [32,45] Because these reports came from uncontrolled clinical experience, a true incidence rate for pulmonary oedema cannot be determined, and a causal relationship between the occurrence of pulmonary oedema and therapy with thalidomide cannot be conclusively established. Generalised fluid retention with mild pulmonary con-

gestion may be a consideration in patients experiencing dyspnoea during therapy with thalidomide. To date, however, no objective evidence of pulmonary oedema has been reported for patients experiencing thalidomide-associated dyspnoea in the absence of known cardiovascular disease. From among the patients for whom spontaneous postmarketing reports of dyspnoea have been received, 21 (30%) also reported peripheral oedema.

Generalised weakness and fatigue have been among the most common spontaneously reported adverse events during thalidomide therapy (CRR 1.2%). 18 of the patients for whom dyspnoea was reported (26%) also experienced generalised weakness or fatigue. In some patients, the sensations of muscle weakness and fatigue may contribute to respiratory discomfort, resulting in excessive ventilation out of proportion to the patient's level of activity.[81-84] The sensation of dyspnoea is an inherently complex experience involving the processing of sensory information, as well as the subjective interpretation of these sensations.<sup>[82,83]</sup> The subjective nature of the awareness of the desire for increased breathing in the dyspnoeic patient underscores the possible role of affective or cognitive factors in the sensation of breathlessness and suggests the importance of cortical influences in the pathogenesis of dyspnoea. It is possible that for some patients the sensation of shortness of breath may be a component of the experience of the sedative/ hypnotic effect of thalidomide.

#### 3.1.8 Leucopenia

Neutropenia (COSTART: leucopenia) was reported from controlled clinical trials of thalidomide in patients with HIV-related conditions. The incidence of neutropenia in these trials was 16.7% in patients treated with thalidomide 100 mg/day and 25% in those treated with 200 mg/day. The incidence of neutropenia in HIV-seropositive patients treated with placebo was 8.6%. Neutropenia has also been reported from the investigational use of thalidomide in patients with ENL. [32,45] In refractory multiple myeloma, neutropenia was reported for <5% of patients at any dose level (200 to 800 mg/day). [49]

The CRR for neutropenia is 0.5% (52 reports). 49 of the spontaneous postmarketing cases of neutropenia (94%) occurred in patients treated with thalidomide for malignancies. More than 49% of the oncology patients for whom neutropenia was reported were receiving concomitant antineoplastic chemotherapy, and 28% had histories of neutropenia predating therapy with thalidomide. There are currently no controlled data available regarding the incidence of neutropenia in patients with malignancies treated with thalidomide. Table IV summarises the characteristics of patients for whom spontaneous postmarketing reports of neutropenia have been received.

Reports from the published literature suggest that HIV-seropositive patients may be at higher risk for the development of thalidomide-associated neutropenia. [43,51,85] Neutropenia has been reported to occur in approximately 8% of asymptomatic HIV-seropositive patients not treated with thalidomide. In advanced AIDS, approximately 75% of patients not treated with thalidomide develop neutropenia. [86,87]

The current FDA-approved precautions regarding thalidomide-associated neutropenia recommend that therapy should not be started in patients with absolute neutrophil counts (ANC) <750 cells/mm³. The white blood cell count and differential should be monitored on an ongoing basis, especially in patients who may be at greater risk for the development of neutropenia. During therapy with thalidomide, if the ANC decreases to <750 cells/mm³, the patient's entire medication regimen should be re-evaluated and, if the neutropenia persists, consideration should be given to withholding thalidomide, if clinically appropriate. [45]

#### 3.2 Thromboembolic Events

Thromboembolic adverse events have previously been reported in association with thalidomide therapy. [32,45] The risk for the occurrence of such events in populations other than patients with ENL is not currently known. Evaluation of the frequency of thromboembolic events is particularly complex in patient populations that may have a relatively higher

Table IV. Characteristics of patients with Thalomid® (thalidomide)-associated neutropenia

Patient characteristics	Patients with neutropenia	All patients treated
Number of patients	52	10 456
Females (%)	54	46
Mean age (y)	56.4 (range 29-81)	58 (range 3-95)
Diagnosis		
Cancer (%)	94	73
multiple myeloma (%)	49	34
Dermatological condition (%)	2	2
HIV-related condition (%)	2	2
Other [neurofibromatosis] (%)	2	6
Treatment		
Mean duration of treatment to onset of neutropenia (days)	62 (range 5-330)	NA
Mean daily dose (mg)	421 (range 50-1600)	287 (range 50-1600)
Treatment discontinued (%)	42	NA
Therapy with thalidomide restarted (%)	39	NA
Event occurred after discontinuation of therapy with thalidomide (%)	2	NA
History of neutropenia predating therapy with thalidomide (%)	28	Unknown
Concomitant antineoplastic chemotherapy (%)	49	Unknown

background frequency of thromboembolic events than is observed in patients with ENL. With the use of prescription thalidomide in patient populations that may be particularly susceptible to thromboembolic phenomena, consideration of the spontaneous postmarketing safety surveillance data may help to identify patient groups and other factors associated with increased risk. In particular, patients with malignancies may represent such a population with increased susceptibility to thromboembolic events. There are currently no controlled data regarding the incidence of such events in patients with malignancies treated with thalidomide. In a phase II trial of thalidomide administered as a daily 1200mg dose in 32 patients with recurrent high-grade astrocytomas and mixed gliomas, deep vein thrombosis was reported in 1 patient (3%). This event was not reported as having been clearly related to treatment with thalidomide.[88]

Adverse events reported from uncontrolled clinical experience with thalidomide in patients with ENL and in HIV-seropositive patients have included thrombophlebitis, thrombosis and pulmonary embolus. [32,45] During the first 18 months of US market availability, 27 spontaneous postmar-

keting reports of thromboembolic events were received for patients treated with prescription thalidomide (CRR 0.26%). 26 of the 27 reports were received for patients who were being treated for malignancies (CRR 0.34% for oncology patients). 12 of the patients were treated for multiple myeloma (44%). Other malignancies for which reports of thromboembolic events have been received include brain tumours (4 reports, 15%), lung cancer (3 reports, 11%), renal cell carcinoma (2 reports, 7%), unspecified malignancies (2 reports, 7%) and 1 report each for breast cancer, oesophageal cancer and nasopharyngeal cancer. Table V summarises the characteristics of patients for whom spontaneous postmarketing reports of thromboembolic events have been received.

Patients with cancer are predisposed to a hyper-coagulable state associated with an increased risk for venous thromboembolism.<sup>[89-92]</sup> The published literature suggests that the overall reported clinical incidence of thromboembolic phenomena in oncology patients is approximately 15%.<sup>[90-93]</sup> However, incidences reported from autopsy series have been considerably higher.<sup>[93-95]</sup> Complications of alterations in haemostasis have been reported to repre-

sent the second most common cause of mortality in patients with cancer.<sup>[94]</sup> The risk of thrombosis in these patients varies with the type of underlying malignancy. Patients with mucin-secreting adenocarcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract, pancreatic cancer, ovarian cancer, lung cancer, acute promyelocytic leukaemia, myeloproliferative disorders and brain tumours have all been reported to be at increased risk for thromboembolic complications.<sup>[93]</sup> A variety of coagulation defects have been reported for patients with dysproteinaemias such as plasma cell myeloma or macroglobulinaemia.<sup>[96-98]</sup> The reported incidence of venous thromboembolism in

patients with myeloproliferative disorders ranges from 3.6 to 11.53%. [91] There is also a much higher risk of venous and arterial thrombosis in patients with cancer during antineoplastic chemotherapy. [99]

The cause of thrombosis in patients with cancer is currently unknown but is probably multifactorial. The pathogenesis of the hypercoagulable state associated with malignancies may involve tumour cell interactions with pre-existing (acquired or hereditary) coagulation factors, the generation of procoagulant factors and the activation of platelets and/or vascular endothelium.<sup>[100-102]</sup> What effects, if any, thalidomide may have on normal coagula-

Table V. Characteristics of patients with Thalomid® (thalidomide)-associated thromboembolic events

Patient characteristics	Patients with thromboembolic events	All patients treated
Number of patients	27	10 456
Females (%)	43	46
Mean age (y)	61.7 (range 42-81)	58 (range 3-95)
Diagnosis		
Cancer (%)	96	73
multiple myeloma (%)	44	34
Behçet's syndrome (%)	4	1
Thromboembolic event		
Deep vein thrombosis (%)	67	NA
Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism (%)	33	NA
Treatment		
Mean duration of treatment to onset of event (days)	50 (range 5-118)	NA
Mean daily dose (mg)	356 (range 100-800)	287 (range 50-1600)
Treatment discontinued (%)	52	NA
Therapy with thalidomide restarted (%)	14	NA
Event occurred after discontinuation of therapy with thalidomide (%)	15	NA
Past history of thromboembolic events (%)	11	Unknown
Relevant concomitant medications		
Antineoplastic chemotherapy (%)	26	Unknown
Corticosteroids (%)	52	Unknown
Megestrol acetate (%)	4	Unknown
Conjugated estrogens (%)	4	Unknown
Other risk factors		
Knee surgery (no. of pts)	1	Unknown
Lower extremity trauma – soft tissue (no. of pts)	1	Unknown
Pathological fracture – femur (no. of pts)	1	Unknown
Total hip replacement surgery (no. of pts)	1	Unknown
Lower extremity varicose veins (no. of pts)	1	Unknown
Thrombocytosis (no. of pts)	1	Unknown
NA = not applicable; pts = patients.		

tion factors, platelets or vascular endothelium, or the procoagulant activity of malignant cells are currently unknown. Because of presumed underreporting, the currently available uncontrolled data may not accurately reflect the risk for thromboembolic events in oncology patients treated with thalidomide. A number of controlled clinical trials are currently in progress to investigate the effects of thalidomide on the coagulation system in nonanticoagulated patients with multiple myeloma. In the absence of controlled data, it would be premature to recommend a prophylactic anticoagulant regimen during thalidomide therapy.

Although not formally studied, there is no known thalidomide-warfarin drug interaction. Uncontrolled clinical experience to date suggests that many patients who develop thromboembolic complications are able to continue thalidomide after the initiation of appropriate anticoagulation therapy. From among the total of 1210 patients for whom spontaneous postmarketing adverse drug experiences have been reported during Thalomid® therapy, 139 (13%) were known to have received concomitant therapy with warfarin. To date, 1 case (0.7%) of an excessively elevated international normalised prothrombin time ratio (INR) has been spontaneously reported. As with any patient treated with warfarin, during concomitant therapy with thalidomide, the patient's INR should be monitored closely until stable. Frequent periodic monitoring should continue after a stable anticoagulant regimen has been established.

Because thrombocytopenia has been reported in association with thalidomide therapy, [32,45] patients should have platelet counts checked within 3 to 5 days after starting concomitant anticoagulant therapy. Platelet counts should be monitored frequently until stable.

#### 3.3 Serious Unexpected Adverse Events

During the first 18 months of US market availability of prescription thalidomide, 525 spontaneous postmarketing reports were received involving unexpected adverse events not currently described in the Thalomid<sup>®</sup> labelling/product information (43%)

of all spontaneous postmarketing reports). Applying the FDA criteria for seriousness, 369 of these reports (70%) involved serious unexpected events. In 280 of the serious unexpected adverse event reports (53%), patients were reported to have died because of progression of pre-existing malignancies. Although death due to underlying disease progression could be considered to be a lack of therapeutic effect, all of the patients who died were treated for therapeutic indications which are not yet approved indications for thalidomide. In a number of cases, it also appears that patients who were preterminal were started on thalidomide as palliative therapy, and the patients' deaths were not unexpected. Reports of nonfatal progression of patients' underlying diseases, other than ENL, accounted for 7.5% (28 reports) of the serious unexpected adverse event reports.

Although the requirement for registration in the S.T.E.P.S.<sup>™</sup> programme provides a means to monitor the size of the population for which thalidomide is being prescribed, it is unusual to be able to establish with certainty through postmarketing surveillance that a causal relationship exists between exposure to a drug and a specific adverse event.<sup>[103]</sup> It has been suggested that for rare adverse drug experiences, coincidental drug-event associations are so unlikely that they warrant little concern. However, more than 3 spontaneous reports of an event are potentially considered to constitute a signal requiring further evaluation.<sup>[104]</sup> From among the serious unexpected adverse events spontaneously reported for Thalomid®, at least 3 reports have been received for each of the following events between 1 October 1998 and 31 March 2000: convulsion (18 reports), respiratory failure (15), pleural effusion (13), stupor (6), hypoxia (5), hallucinations (5), shock (4), hepatic failure (4), pneumothorax (4), coma (3), cerebral haemorrhage (3), Stevens-Johnson syndrome (3), skin ulcer (3) and paranoid reaction (3).

The decision to investigate a spontaneously reported event in a more controlled investigational setting must typically be based on the seriousness of the event, the plausibility of a causal relationship in the light of the drug's pharmacology, and the

strength of the evidence for a causal relationship, such as a positive rechallenge. All of the patients for whom respiratory failure, pleural effusion, hypoxia, shock, pneumothorax and cerebral haemorrhage were reported experienced progression of their underlying diseases during therapy with thalidomide. All but 3 of these patients were treated with thalidomide for very advanced refractory malignancies. The serious unexpected events reported for these patients were felt to have been complications of or the direct consequences of complications of their underlying malignancies, and the treating physicians assessed the events to have been unrelated to therapy with thalidomide.

One of the patients treated with thalidomide for an indication other than malignancy, who experienced serious unexpected adverse events, was a 65-year-old woman with sarcoidosis refractory to corticosteroid therapy. The patient also had concurrent diabetes mellitus. Before starting therapy with thalidomide, she had severe pulmonary fibrosis with respiratory insufficiency requiring mechanical ventilation. After 2 weeks of therapy with thalidomide 400 mg/day, the patient was successfully weaned from mechanical ventilatory support. She remained stable for approximately 2 months, before she experienced an acute exacerbation of her pulmonary disease with respiratory failure. The treating physician assessed the patient's events to have been unrelated to therapy with thalidomide.

A 59-year-old male patient with corticosteroid-refractory sarcoidosis with severe pulmonary fibrosis and bullous transformation was treated with thalidomide 400 mg/day for 16 days. During therapy, the patient experienced progressive pulmonary disease with respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation. The patient developed numerous complications including a pneumothorax. He died as a result of progressive respiratory compromise. The treating physician assessed the events and the patient's death to have been unrelated to therapy with thalidomide.

A third patient, a 59-year-old man with diabetes mellitus, was treated for pyoderma gangrenosum. After 10 days of therapy with thalidomide 400

mg/day, the patient was hospitalised with Gramnegative bacteraemia. He developed septic shock and died 4 days after therapy with thalidomide had been discontinued. The cause of death reported at autopsy was multiorgan system failure secondary to Gram-negative sepsis with septic shock, which the treating physician assessed to have been unrelated to therapy with thalidomide.

#### 3.3.1 Seizures

Seizures (COSTART: convulsion) are not currently included among the events reported in the Thalomid<sup>®</sup> labelling/product information. During the first 18 months of US market availability, 18 spontaneous reports of seizures were received for patients (8 females and 10 males) treated with prescription thalidomide (CRR 0.17%). The mean age of the patients for whom seizures were reported was 51 (range 11 to 78) years. 11 patients (61%) had known pre-existing CNS disease or a past history of seizures. Eight patients (44%) had pre-existing hypertension, and 5 patients (28%), all of whom were treated for multiple myeloma, had pre-existing renal insufficiency or renal failure. Four patients were dialysis-dependent. Table VI summarises the characteristics of patients for whom spontaneous postmarketing reports of seizures have been received.

In 4 cases, the patients first developed seizure activity after therapy with thalidomide had been discontinued. Four patients continued therapy with thalidomide with no subsequent seizures reported. 14 patients discontinued therapy. Among these, 7 patients have had no subsequent seizures reported, 2 had subsequent seizures off thalidomide and 2 re-initiated thalidomide therapy with no subsequent reports of seizures.

13 of the 17 patients for whom complete information is available experienced the new onset of seizures during or after therapy with thalidomide. To date, the CRR for new onset of seizures during therapy with thalidomide has been approximately 0.12%. This rate is higher than the incidence of new onset of seizure disorders in adults, which is reported to occur annually in 0.03 to 0.05% of the general population. [105]

Table VI. Characteristics of patients with Thalomid® (thalidomide)-associated seizures

Patient characteristics	Patients with seizures	All patients treated
Number of patients	18	10 456
Females (%; no.)	44 (8)	46
Mean age (y)	50.8 (range 11-78)	58 (range 3-95)
Diagnosis		
Cancer (%; no.)	83 (15)	73
multiple myeloma (%; no.)	56 (10)	34
primary brain tumours (%; no.)	17 (3)	5
gastrointestinal (%; no.)	6 (1)	6
lung (%; no.)	6 (1)	5
brain metastases (%; no.)	6 (1)	Unknown
Graft versus host disease (%; no.)	11 (2)	1
Dermatological conditions (%; no.)	6 (1)	2
Past history of seizures predating therapy with thalidomide (%; no.)	22 (4)	Unknown
Treatment		
Mean duration of treatment to onset of event (days)	56 (range 6-211)	NA
Mean daily dose (mg)	371 (range 50-1000)	287 (range 50-1600
Mean total cumulative thalidomide dose (g)	24	NA
Treatment discontinued (%; no.)	78 (14)	NA
Therapy with thalidomide restarted (%; no.)	14 (2/14)	NA
Event occurred after discontinuation of therapy with thalidomide (%; no.)	22 (4)	NA
Subsequent seizures reported after discontinuation of thalidomide (%; no.)	14 (2/14)	NA
Concurrent medical conditions		
CNS trauma (%; no.)	11 (2)	Unknown
CNS infection (%; no.)	17 (3)	Unknown
CNS surgery (%; no.)	17 (3)	Unknown
Renal insufficiency (%; no.)	28 (5)	Unknown
Chronic dialysis-dependent renal failure (%; no.)	22 (4)	Unknown
Hypertension (%; no.)	44 (8)	Unknown
Other suspect drugs (%; no.)	17 (3)	NA

17 of the 18 patients for whom reports of seizure were received (94%) were treated with thalidomide for oncology-related indications. Overall, 74% of patients registered in the S.T.E.P.S.™ programme have been treated for oncology-related indications. The CRR for seizures in oncology patients treated with thalidomide is 0.2%. Ten of the 18 patients for whom seizures were reported (56%) were treated with thalidomide for multiple myeloma. Overall, 34% of patients registered to date in the S.T.E.P.S.™ programme have been treated for multiple myeloma. The CRR for seizures in multiple myeloma patients treated with thalidomide is 0.28%.

Oncology patients and patients with chronic renal failure may represent populations at increased risk for seizures. Neurological emergencies are common among cancer patients. In 1 study, neurological symptoms and signs were present in 38% of oncology-related emergency department visits. [106] Neurological emergencies may result from a direct effect of the malignancy, as a complication of metabolic abnormalities or the dysfunction of other organ systems, or as a sequela of therapy. Seizures are a presenting symptom in approximately 20 to 30% of patients with brain tumours. [107,108] Other causes of seizures in oncology patients in descending order of frequency include metastatic disease, treatment sequelae, primary CNS infection, cerebrovascular disease and metabolic abnormalities. [109] Metabolic abnormalities, especially

hypoglycaemia, hyperglycaemia, hyponatraemia, hypocalcaemia and hypercalcaemia account for 9% of acutely triggered seizures.[110] Patients with multiple myeloma and especially myeloma patients with renal insufficiency may be particularly at risk for such metabolic derangements. Approximately 35% of patients diagnosed with multiple myeloma are found at presentation to have renal impairment ranging from renal insufficiency with increased BUN and/or creatinine[111,112] to acute renal failure.[113-115] Up to 50% of multiple myeloma patients have minimal histological renal damage with apparently normal renal function.[113-116] Patients with renal failure have seizures related to several syndromes.[117] The incidence of seizures in dialysis patients not treated with thalidomide has been reported to be 4 to 8% per year.[118-121] Although specific metabolic abnormalities were not documented in all of the patients without known pre-existing CNS disease, such urgently treatable causes should be considered in any patient with seizures, if the clinical setting is appropriate.

One previous case of seizure activity during therapy with thalidomide for multiple myeloma was presented in an abstract at the 1999 meeting of the American Society of Hematology.[122] This case involved a 48-year-old man with multiple myeloma and renal failure who developed seizures and white matter changes on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan after 8 months of therapy with thalidomide. He required haemodialysis for worsening renal failure due to light chain nephropathy, demonstrated on renal biopsy. After his second dialysis, the patient developed sudden onset of headaches, photophobia, nausea and vomiting and had 3 generalised tonic-clonic seizures. He was diagnosed with a subarachnoid haemorrhage. A search of the published literature failed to identify any other reports of seizures in humans treated with thalidomide for any indication. Thalidomide has been tested for anticonvulsant activity in a variety of animal species.<sup>[42]</sup> In rats, thalidomide had no anticonvulsant activity, when evaluated using a maximal electroshock procedure.[123] Thalidomide doses of 100 mg/kg did, however, reduce the median effective anticonvulsant doses (ED<sub>50</sub>) of diphenylhydantoin and phenobarbital (phenobarbitone) in mice by ratios of 1.95 and 2.2, respectively. This potentiation of the anticonvulsant effects did not involve inhibition of the metabolic pathways of the anticonvulsant drugs in the liver and occurred without an increase in serum drug concentrations.<sup>[123]</sup>

One report from the published preclinical literature compared the ability of thalidomide and pentobarbital (pentobarbitone) to suppress the susceptibility to audiogenic seizures of rats withdrawn from sodium barbital.[124] Sodium barbital withdrawal seizures were compared in a placebo control group of rats, a sodium barbital-maintained group (500 mg/kg/day), a 50 mg/kg pentobarbital substituted group, a 30 mg/kg thalidomide substituted group, and a 60 mg/kg thalidomide substituted group (n = 6 for each group). Total scores of seizure activity obtained for each of the treatment groups during 6 scoring sessions were compared. The total scores obtained by rats maintained on sodium barbital and rats with substituted pentobarbital were markedly and significantly less than the total scores obtained by rats of the control withdrawn and the thalidomide-treated groups (p < 0.001). There were no significant differences between the control withdrawn and the thalidomidetreated groups. The investigators also compared the total number of occurrences of overt seizures for each treatment group. The rats maintained on sodium barbital and those with substituted pentobarbital had no occurrences of overt seizures. Although substitution with thalidomide did not suppress withdrawal seizures, the thalidomide-treated rats had 16 occurrences of overt seizures during 6 testing sessions compared with 45 occurrences of overt seizures in the control withdrawn rats. The significance of the observed differences between treatment groups in the occurrences of overt seizures was not tested. Thalidomide doses far exceeding those shown to increase deep slow wave sleep and to decrease spontaneous activity in rats did not affect the seizure threshold of physically dependent rats withdrawn from sodium barbital.

In early studies in healthy humans, thalidomide was demonstrated to be a potent CNS depressant in relatively low doses (25 to 100mg) and an effective hypnotic agent in slightly higher doses (100 to 200mg).[125] In contrast to other sedative/hypnotic drugs, thalidomide did not produce an initial excitation phase, and narcotic effects could not be produced, even with very high doses. [125] Thalidomide is believed to induce sleep in humans via dose-related activation of diencephalic (thalamic and hypothalamic) sleep centres.[42,50] Unlike barbiturates, thalidomide does not depress CNS neuronal function,[42] and even at high doses, thalidomide does not cause anaesthesia or respiratory depression.<sup>[42]</sup> Natural sleep increases the rate of hypersynchrony of discharges from cerebral neurons, resulting in increased risk for epileptiform discharges.[126,127] The somewhat novel sedative/ hypnotic mechanism and site of pharmacological action proposed for thalidomide suggest that thalidomide may be a potent CNS depressant, inducing sleep with only minimal suppression of the activity of the cerebral cortex. [42,125]

Thalidomide has been evaluated as a sleepinducing sedative/hypnotic for sleep-activated electroencephalogram (EEG) studies.[125] Patients with clinically confirmed epilepsy were evaluated with a baseline resting EEG followed by a repeat EEG after a 3- to 5-minute period of hyperventilation. To minimise the potential sources for error, all patients with any electroencephalographic evidence of seizure activity on either the resting EEG or the EEG after hyperventilation were excluded from the thalidomide phase of the study. 99 patients were selected for study, and EEG tracings were again performed between 1 and 2 hours after the administration of a 200mg oral dose of thalidomide. Electroencephalographic evidence of seizure activity (positive result) was detected after the administration of thalidomide in 70 of the 99 cases evaluated (71%). A significant increase in the number of positive results was noted with increasing depth of patient sleep.[125] Under similar investigational conditions thalidomide was evaluated in sleep EEGs among 26 patients with known cerebral tumours

who had indeterminate, questionable or negative baseline EEG findings. After a 200mg oral dose of thalidomide, 24 of 26 patients (92%) had demonstrable electrical foci in their EEG patterns corresponding to the locations of the patients' tumours. [125]

In patients predisposed to or at risk of seizure activity, the sedative/hypnotic effect of thalidomide may lower the seizure threshold by facilitating a normal sleep-induced increase in epileptiform discharges without the concurrent suppression of cerebral cortical activity, like that produced by other sedative/hypnotic drugs. During therapy with thalidomide, patients with pre-existing CNS disease or injury, patients at risk for metabolic derangements that may trigger seizure activity, and patients receiving concomitant therapy with potentially epileptogenic agents may need to be monitored closely for clinical changes that could precipitate acute seizure activity. Because of the number of reports of seizures to date, a proposed change to the Thalomid® product labelling has been submitted to the FDA to include a precaution statement regarding the risk of developing seizures during therapy with thalidomide.

#### 3.3.2 Stupor

Six reports have been received in which patients were described with varying levels of 'unresponsiveness' (COSTART: stupor). All of these cases were reported in patients treated for advanced, refractory malignancies. Three patients described as unresponsive were hospitalised for progressive malignancies with fever, neutropenia, sepsis and/or pneumonia and were essentially preterminal. Two patients were described as 'difficult to arouse', and 1 patient presented with a 'decreased level of consciousness'. All of these patients had advanced, progressive malignancies complicated by severe weakness and fatigue, anaemia, nausea and vomiting with dehydration, or tumour lysis syndrome with renal failure. The treating physicians were unsure of the extent to which thalidomide might have contributed to the patients' alterations in level of consciousness. In some cases, thalidomide may have contributed to the reported events by producing excessive somnolence, which is an expected event for thalidomide. In other cases the events, which were coded as stupor, involved states of unresponsiveness related to complications of the patients' underlying and often preterminal diseases. Although the hypnosedative effects of thalidomide are well characterised, prescription thalidomide is not currently indicated for the treatment of malignancies, and controlled data do not currently exist regarding the occurrence of alterations of consciousness in oncology patients treated with thalidomide. Stupor is not a labelled event included in the current Thalomid® product information. No significant new safety information and no clear reporting trends are identifiable on the basis of the information from spontaneous reports coded as stupor. Because this information is not likely to contribute significantly to the development of the safety profile of thalidomide, further evaluation in a more controlled investigational setting is probably not warranted.

#### 3.3.3 Hallucinations

Five serious postmarketing reports have been received involving hallucinations. All of the patients were treated with thalidomide for malignancies. In 3 patients, episodes involving hallucinations occurred in the setting of acute hospitalisations for fever with sepsis, fever with pneumonia and hypoxia, and anorexia, dehydration and confusion. One patient with refractory multiple myeloma and chronic haemodialysis-dependent renal failure experienced hallucinations associated with increasingly severe uraemia that occurred during an attempt to decrease the frequency of his haemodialysis. The fifth patient developed what was described as an acute psychotic episode with confusion and hallucinations of 48 hours' duration. This episode occurred 2 weeks after therapy with thalidomide had been discontinued. The patient also had a history of 1 previous similar episode associated with the administration of chemotherapy, which had occurred before starting therapy with thalidomide.

Thalidomide has well documented CNS effects. Although hallucinations are not labelled events for Thalomid<sup>®</sup>, other events with a potentially similar and related pathogenesis that are currently labelled events include abnormal thinking, agitation, con-

fusion, dementia, emotional lability, hostility, mood changes, psychosis, cerebral ischaemia and cerebrovascular accident. Prescription thalidomide is not currently indicated for the treatment of malignancies, and there are currently no controlled data available regarding the incidence of neuropsychiatric events in oncology patients treated with thalidomide. No significant new safety information and no clear reporting trends are identifiable based on the information from spontaneous reports of hallucinations. The current Thalomid® labelling adequately describes neuropsychiatric events potentially associated with thalidomide therapy, and no additional specific investigation is probably warranted at this time.

#### 3.3.4 Hepatic Failure

Four serious postmarketing reports of hepatic failure have been received. In 1 case, a 75-year-old female patient treated with thalidomide for advanced multiple myeloma was hospitalised for severe jaundice and hepatic failure after approximately 1 month of therapy. The patient developed hepatic coma and died. The treating physician felt that because of the temporal relationship between the events and treatment with thalidomide, and because no other cause for the patient's events was identified (an autopsy was not performed), the possibility that the events and the patient's death had been related to treatment could not be excluded. One patient was treated with thalidomide for HIVrelated Mycobacterium avium complex. The patient, who had severe HIV-related liver disease predating therapy with thalidomide, developed hepatic failure with ascites and died after 6 days of therapy. The treating physician felt that the patient's death was not related to treatment. The third patient was treated for carcinoma of the colon with liver metastases. The patient died as a result of progressive metastatic liver disease with hepatic failure, coagulopathy and gastrointestinal bleeding, which the treating physician felt were not related to therapy. In the fourth case, a patient with pre-existing systemic lupus erythematosus was treated with thalidomide for renal cell carcinoma. This patient, who had a history of lupus nephritis, renal failure and

hepatic failure predating therapy, died after approximately 3 weeks of therapy with thalidomide as a result of progressive renal and hepatic failure, which the treating physician felt were unrelated to treatment.

Hepatic failure is an unexpected event for thalidomide. The safety, efficacy and pharmacokinetics of thalidomide have not been specifically studied in patients with hepatic dysfunction. Increased liver function tests were reported in 2.8 to 12.5% of HIV-seropositive patients treated with thalidomide in controlled clinical trials (n = 68). Increased liver function tests, bilirubinaemia and hepatomegaly were also reported from uncontrolled investigational experience with thalidomide in 3143 patients with ENL in the US over a 19-year period.[32,45] Other hepatic events reported from the uncontrolled investigational use of thalidomide in 145 HIV-seropositive patients and from additional events identified in the published literature or from spontaneous reports from other sources involving the investigational use of thalidomide in various other indications have included cholestatic jaundice, hepatitis, bilirubinaemia and bile duct obstruction.[32,45] Because these data came from uncontrolled investigational clinical experience, the true incidence rate for the reported events cannot be determined, and no causal relationship between the reported events and treatment with thalidomide can be conclusively determined. In refractory multiple myeloma, no adverse hepatic effects were reported. [49] There are currently no controlled data available regarding the incidence of increased liver function tests or hepatic failure in oncology patients treated with thalidomide.

Thalidomide does not undergo significant hepatic enzyme-dependent metabolism. [32,40,41] In aqueous solution at physiological pH, thalidomide decomposes by spontaneous hydrolysis. [41] In Celgene Corporation-sponsored *in vitro* studies using a large range of human cloned CYP enzymes, rat liver homogenates and human liver homogenates, thalidomide was shown to be a poor substrate for CYP-dependent mono-oxygenase reactions, with negligible thalidomide metabolism by CYP iso-

zymes. Thalidomide also did not inhibit the metabolism of any CYP isozyme-specific substrates.<sup>[32,40]</sup>

The safety, efficacy and pharmacokinetics of thalidomide have not been specifically studied in patients with hepatic dysfunction. Thalidomide therapy was evaluated in a double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study in primary biliary cirrhosis. The mean baseline serum bilirubin for patients receiving thalidomide in this study was 11 mg/dl. After 6 months of therapy with thalidomide 100 mg/day, no significant effects on hepatic histology or biochemical tests of liver function were noted. [128]

As with many of the serious unexpected events reported for prescription thalidomide, the majority of the reports of hepatic failure involved complications of the patients' severe, advanced underlying diseases. No significant new safety information and no clear reporting trends are identifiable from spontaneous reports of hepatic failure received to date.

#### 3.3.5 Coma

Three serious spontaneous cases involving coma have been reported for thalidomide. In 1 case, a 78-year-old woman with progressive multiple myeloma and pre-existing renal insufficiency was treated with thalidomide 300 mg/day. Therapy was discontinued after 2 days because of excessive sedation. Four days after thalidomide was discontinued, the patient became progressively less responsive, eventually comatose, and died. The treating physician assumed that the patient's death was attributable to progressive multiple myeloma with kidney disease but felt that it was not exactly clear why the patient had progressed into a comatose state. A second patient with progressive multiple myeloma was being treated with dexamethasone at the time that therapy with thalidomide 200 mg/day was initiated. Before starting therapy, the patient had a several-week history of mental status changes, generalised weakness, urinary frequency and dysuria. After 9 days of therapy with thalidomide, the patient presented in an obtunded state diagnosed as diabetic coma. The treating physician assessed the patient's events to have been unrelated to therapy. The third patient was treated with thalidomide for

end-stage cystic lymphangiomatosis. After 2 months of therapy with thalidomide 600 mg/day and concomitant interferon, the patient developed fever, mental status changes, and seizures suggestive of mild septic shock. The patient was brought to the hospital 'unconscious' (COSTART: coma) during the postictal period. Thalidomide and interferon therapy were discontinued. An MRI scan of the head was possibly consistent with changes from previous radiation therapy versus acute disseminated encephalomyelitis or lymphoma. The patient had a history of herpes simplex keratitis and was treated for possible herpes encephalitis. Two months after therapy with thalidomide had been discontinued, the patient was again hospitalised with increased seizure activity and mental status changes felt possibly to be due to chronic changes from his underlying malignancy. No causality assessment was provided for the patient's events.

All of the spontaneous reports of coma submitted to date have been for patients treated for malignancies. Thalomid® is not currently indicated for the treatment of malignancies, and there are no controlled data available regarding the incidence of neurological events in oncology patients treated with thalidomide. The reported patients had other underlying conditions, which may have predisposed them to neurological events including the events described as coma. One report involved an event which occurred after the discontinuation of thalidomide, and 1 report appears to have been related to a postictal state following seizure activity. A detailed discussion of seizures associated with thalidomide therapy has already been presented. The third report of coma involved complications of an underlying pre-existing condition. No significant new safety information and no clear reporting trends are identifiable from spontaneous reports of coma received to date.

#### 3.3.6 Stevens-Johnson Syndrome

Three postmarketing cases of Stevens-Johnson syndrome have been spontaneously reported for patients with malignancies (multiple myeloma, lymphoma and ovarian cancer) treated with thalidomide (CRR 0.03%). One of these reports involved a patient death.

Two reports of thalidomide-induced TEN have been identified from the published literature. [55,56] In a clinical study evaluating thalidomide as therapy for TEN, thalidomide was ineffective in halting the necrolysis process during the initial phase of extension. Increased mortality due to multiple organ failure, sepsis, shock and acute respiratory distress syndrome was also reported for patients with TEN treated with thalidomide. [129]

Because of reports of Stevens-Johnson syndrome and TEN in patients treated with thalidomide, the Thalomid® product labelling has been changed to include a precaution statement indicating that serious dermatological reactions including Stevens-Johnson syndrome, which may be fatal, have been reported. The revised labelling recommends that thalidomide should be discontinued if a skin rash occurs and resumed only after appropriate clinical evaluation. If the rash is exfoliative, purpuric or bullous or if Stevens-Johnson syndrome or TEN is suspected, use of thalidomide should not be resumed.

#### 3.3.7 Skin Ulcers

Although 'skin necrosis' is a labelled event included in the current Thalomid® product information, skin ulcers or decubitus ulcers are not specifically included as labelled events. Skin necrosis was not reported from clinical trials of thalidomide in patients with ENL or in HIV-seropositive patients, but was reported in the published literature of uncontrolled investigational experience with the use of thalidomide in patients with ENL. [32,45] Because this information came from data collected in uncontrolled trials, the true incidence rate for the reported event cannot be determined, and no causal relationship between the reported event and treatment with thalidomide can be conclusively determined.

Three spontaneous cases of skin ulcer have been reported (CRR 0.03%). These reports include 2 patients treated with thalidomide for graft versus host disease (GVHD) and 1 patient treated for multiple myeloma. One patient with GVHD, a 51-year-old

woman, was treated with thalidomide 600 mg/day after a bone marrow transplant for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. The patient had leg ulcers predating therapy with thalidomide. After approximately 8 months of therapy, she was hospitalised for worsening leg ulcers. Thalidomide was discontinued, and the patient was treated with surgical debridement, rehabilitation and wound care and an improvement was observed.

The second patient with GVHD, a 42-year-old woman with GVHD after a bone marrow transplant for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, was treated with thalidomide 600 mg/day. After approximately 9 months of therapy, the patient developed debilitating leg ulcers requiring hospitalisation. Thalidomide was discontinued. Two months after discontinuing therapy, the patient died of pneumonia.

A 56-year-old female patient with multiple myeloma had decubitus ulcers on her back and hip prior to starting therapy with thalidomide. After 14 days of thalidomide 400 mg/day, her decubitus ulcers were felt to have become worse. The treating physician noted that the patient had also been significantly less mobile during this period. Therapy was discontinued, and the patient was hospitalised for surgical debridement of a necrotic sacral decubitus ulcer.

The establishment of a vascular supply or angiogenesis is an essential process during fetal development. In the adult, normal angiogenesis is required for reproductive functions (menstruation, placental development, formation of the corpus luteum) and tissue repair after wounding or inflammation.[130-132] Angiogenesis is also a prerequisite for rapid tumour growth and metastasis<sup>[25-29]</sup> and contributes to a number of other pathological conditions, including diabetic retinopathy, rheumatoid arthritis, haemangiomas, psoriasis, ischaemic heart disease, atherosclerosis and gastric ulcers. [25,27,133] The control of angiogenesis involves a balance of positive and negative regulators, which control whether vascular wall cells remain in a state of homeostasis or proceed to neovascularisation. A large number of angiogenic and antiangiogenic factors have been identified and characterised. [28,29,131,133]

bFGF is a potent endogenous angiogenic protein among the most important stimulatory factors in both tumour growth and metastasis<sup>[29,133]</sup> and in wound healing. <sup>[134,135]</sup> Orally administered thalidomide has been shown in several animal models to be an inhibitor of angiogenesis induced by bFGF. <sup>[23,24]</sup> Thalidomide is currently under investigation as an inhibitor of angiogenesis in humans for the treatment of tumours that are not responsive to standard therapy. There are currently, however, no controlled data regarding the effects, if any, of thalidomide on wound healing in humans.

Preliminary studies of the immunomodulatory effects of thalidomide in animal models have not demonstrated inhibition or other disturbances of wound healing associated with orally administered thalidomide. In a guinea-pig model of angiogenesis in experimentally induced granulomata, orally administered thalidomide exerted a dual effect. Following the subcutaneous implantation of polyvinyl alcohol sponges in guinea-pigs, treatment with thalidomide significantly reduced vascular density (p < 0.05) and at the same time enhanced the granulomatous response, improving wound healing and scar formation (p < 0.05).<sup>[136]</sup> In a second study in mongrel dogs, thalidomide was used to replace corticosteroids for immunosuppression after lung transplantation. Three postoperative immunosuppressive regimens were evaluated. Maintenance immunosuppressive therapy was started 12 hours after extubation. Treatment group I received cyclosporin (20 mg/kg twice daily), azathioprine (2.5 mg/kg once daily) and thalidomide (50 mg/kg twice daily). Treatment group II received standard immunosuppression with cyclosporin (20 mg/kg twice daily), azathioprine (2.5 mg/kg once daily) and prednisone (2 mg/kg once daily). The third treatment group (group III) received cyclosporin (10 mg/kg twice daily), azathioprine (2.5 mg/kg once daily) and thalidomide (50 mg/kg twice daily). After transplantation, the animals were evaluated weekly with open lung biopsies and bronchoscopy until sacrifice on day 28. Group I showed essentially no graft rejection until week 2 and minimal (grade 1) rejection until day 28.

Group II had moderate (grade 2) rejection at all time points.<sup>[137]</sup>

The group III animals had moderate to severe rejection (grades 3 to 4) after 21 days (p < 0.05 group I vs groups II and III). The number of clinically evident episodes of pneumonia was also significantly lower in group I than in groups II and III (p < 0.05). The major postoperative complications involved disturbances of wound healing with wound dehiscences at the thoracotomy sites. None of the dogs in group I experienced partial or complete wound dehiscence. Partial wound dehiscence occurred in 3 of 5 dogs in group II and in 1 of 5 dogs in group III. The investigators concluded that thalidomide administered after single lung transplantation was associated with decreased acute rejection, decreased episodes of pulmonary infections and a lower incidence of wound healing disturbances and bronchial stenosis, when compared with standard immunosuppressive therapy.<sup>[137]</sup>

A recently published case report describes an example of successful skin grafting performed on a patient taking thalidomide who had generalised morphea, a degenerative, fibrotic dermatological disorder. <sup>[138]</sup> The authors noted that, despite the concern that thalidomide's potential anti-inflammatory, antifibrotic and antiangiogenic effects could theoretically become a liability in successful wound heaing, this patient healed well after skin grafting with no interruption in thalidomide therapy (800 to 1000 mg/day).

Thalidomide is not currently approved for the treatment of malignancies, and no controlled data are available regarding the occurrence of skin necrosis, skin ulcers or abnormal healing in oncology patients treated with thalidomide. With the use of prescription thalidomide in patient populations that may be at risk for wound complications, continued close monitoring of the spontaneous postmarketing safety surveillance data may help to better define the effects of thalidomide on wound healing and to identify specific risk factors associated with wound complications. In the absence of controlled data specific to thalidomide, it may be prudent to apply the current recommendations for

the use of chemotherapeutic agents and/or radiation therapy to the use of thalidomide in situations where wound complications may be expected. It is well established that chemotherapy and radiation therapy inhibit wound healing. Early studies in animal models demonstrated that the timing and the combination of multiple antineoplastic agents were critical to the effects on wound healing. These studies suggested that radiation or antineoplastic drugs delivered 5 to 7 days before or after a surgical procedure resulted in minimal inhibition of wound healing. Conversely, the administration of radiation or chemotherapy in close juxtaposition to the time of surgery resulted in significant impairment of wound healing, as demonstrated by wound breaking strength.[139] As predicted by the animal studies, when particular attention is paid to the timing of the administration of radiation and or chemotherapy, wound complications can be markedly diminished.[140] Chemotherapeutic agents should not generally be administered until at least 5 to 7 days postoperatively to prevent impairment of the initial, critical healing events.[141]

#### 3.3.8 Paranoid Reaction

Three spontaneous postmarketing cases of paranoid reaction have been reported. All 3 patients were treated with thalidomide for multiple myeloma. One patient experienced auditory hallucinations and paranoid ideation in the setting of an acute hospitalisation for anorexia, dehydration and confusion after more than 1 year of therapy with thalidomide 200 mg/day. The second patient was receiving concomitant therapy with high dose dexamethasone and had a past history significant for previous episodes of bizarre behaviour associated with corticosteroid therapy. The patient required acute psychiatric hospitalisation for bizarre behaviour with paranoia after 29 days of therapy with thalidomide 400 mg/day and 23 days of therapy with dexamethasone. The third patient was hospitalised for paranoid ideation after approximately 8 months of therapy with thalidomide 200 mg/day. Causality assessments were not provided for these 3 cases. All 3 patients discontinued therapy with thalidomide.

Thalidomide has well documented CNS effects. Although paranoid reaction is not a labelled event for Thalomid<sup>®</sup>, other events with a potentially similar and related pathogenesis that are currently labelled events include abnormal thinking, agitation, confusion, dementia, emotional lability, hostility, mood changes, psychosis, cerebral ischaemia and cerebrovascular accident. Prescription thalidomide is not currently indicated for the treatment of multiple myeloma or other malignancies, and there are no controlled data available regarding the incidence of neuropsychiatric events in oncology patients treated with thalidomide. No significant new safety information and no clear reporting trends are identifiable based on the information from spontaneous reports of paranoid reaction. The current Thalomid® labelling adequately describes neuropsychiatric events potentially associated with thalidomide therapy, and no additional specific investigation is probably warranted.

#### 4. Conclusions

18 months of spontaneous postmarketing safety surveillance have now been completed for Thalomid® capsules. The most common adverse events spontaneously reported for prescription thalidomide have been somnolence, asthenia, rash, peripheral oedema, paraesthesia, dizziness, constipation, dyspnoea and leucopenia. All of these adverse events would have been expected on the basis of the current Thalomid® labelling/product information. Although thalidomide is not known to have any specific drug-drug interactions, the possibility that the adverse effects of thalidomide may be additive with those of other drugs with similar effects cannot be excluded. In some cases, it may be helpful to evaluate adverse reactions and make therapeutic decisions relative to the individual patient's entire medication regimen.

Thalidomide has been reported to depress thyroid secretory activity, and cases of hypothyroidism have been reported. [33,42,43,63-65] The potential contribution of subclinical hypothyroidism to the adverse effects attributed directly to thalidomide is currently unknown. It may be prudent to perform

thyroid function testing in patients with persistent symptoms or first onset of symptoms after prolonged therapy with thalidomide.

Thromboembolic adverse events have previously been reported in association with thalidomide therapy. With the use of prescription thalidomide in patient populations that may be particularly susceptible to thromboembolic phenomena, consideration of the spontaneous postmarketing safety surveillance data may help to identify patient groups and other factors associated with increased risk. In particular, patients with malignancies may represent a population with increased susceptibility to thromboembolic events. A number of controlled clinical trials are currently in progress to investigate the effects of thalidomide on the coagulation system in non-anticoagulated patients.

In patients predisposed to or at risk for seizure activity, the sedative/hypnotic effect of thalidomide may lower the seizure threshold by facilitating a normal sleep-induced increase in epileptiform discharges without the concurrent suppression of cerebral cortical activity, which is produced by other sedative/hypnotic drugs. During therapy with thalidomide, patients with pre-existing CNS disease or injury, patients at risk for metabolic derangements that may trigger seizure activity, and patients receiving concomitant therapy with potentially epileptogenic agents may require close monitoring for clinical changes that could precipitate acute seizure activity.

Because serious dermatological reactions including Stevens-Johnson syndrome and TEN, which may be fatal, have been reported, patients who develop rash during therapy with thalidomide should have prompt medical evaluation. If clinically appropriate, thalidomide therapy should be discontinued. If the rash is exfoliative, purpuric or bullous or if Stevens-Johnson syndrome or TEN is suspected, use of thalidomide should not be resumed.

Thalidomide has well documented CNS effects. Therapy with thalidomide may potentially contribute to a variety of adverse neuropsychiatric events and alterations of consciousness, many of which are described in the current Thalomid® labelling/product information.

Angiogenesis is an important process involved in tissue repair after wounding or inflammation. Orally administered thalidomide has been shown in animal models to be an inhibitor of angiogenesis. Thalidomide is currently under investigation as an inhibitor of angiogenesis in humans for the treatment of tumours that are not responsive to standard therapy. There are currently, however, no controlled data regarding the effects, if any, of thalidomide on wound healing in humans. Continued close monitoring of spontaneous postmarketing safety surveillance data may help to better define the effects of thalidomide on wound healing and to identify specific risk factors associated with wound complications. In the absence of controlled data specific to thalidomide, it may be prudent to apply the current recommendations for the use of chemotherapeutic agents and/or radiation therapy to the use of thalidomide in situations where wound complications may be likely.

With the postmarketing use of thalidomide in patient populations other than patients with ENL, it becomes increasingly important to identify patient groups that may be particularly susceptible to specific adverse drug effects and to identify conditions under which specific adverse events may be more likely to occur. Vigilant monitoring of unexpected adverse events not previously reported in association with thalidomide therapy may lead to the identification of signals of potential new problems that warrant further investigation and hypothesis generation for testing in more controlled settings. The development of the safety profile of any drug product is an evolving process. As with any marketed drug, in order to provide guidance for the judicious use of thalidomide in current clinical practice as well as in the investigational setting, the accumulation and analysis of broader population experience with thalidomide through postmarketing safety surveillance is critical for the ongoing development of an accurate and clinically relevant safety profile. Accurate and up-to-date safety information will be important in determining thalidomide's appropriate place in therapy, as new therapeutic indications are considered and investigated.

#### References

- D'Arcy PF, Griffin JP. Thalidomide revisited. Adverse Drug React Toxicol Rev 1994; 13 (1): 65-76
- Mellin GW, Katzenstein M. The saga of thalidomide (continued). N Engl J Med 1962; 267 (24): 1238-43
- Mcbride WG. Thalidomide and congenital abnormalities. Lancet 1961; II: 1358
- 4. Lenz W. Thalidomide and congenital abnormalities. Lancet 1962: I: 45
- 5. Sheskin J. Thalidomide in the treatment of lepra reactions. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1965; 6: 303-6
- Hastings RC, Trautman JR, Enna CD, et al. Thalidomide in the treatment of erythema nodosum leprosum. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1970; 11 (4): 481-7
- Moreira AL, Sampaio EP, Zmuidzinas A, et al. Thalidomide exerts its inhibitory action on tumor necrosis factor a by enhancing mRNA degradation. J Exp Med 1993; 177: 1675-80
- Sampaio EP, Kaplan G, Miranda A, et al. The influence of thalidomide on the clinical and immunological manifestations of erythema nodosum leprosum. J Infect Dis 1993; 168: 408-14
- Shannon EJ, Sandoval F. Thalidomide can be either agonistic or antagonistic to LPS evoked synthesis of TNF-α by mononuclear cells. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol 1996; 18: 59-72
- 10. Nishimura K, Hasimoto Y, Iwasaki S. Enhancement of phorbol ester-induced production of tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  by thalidomide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1994; 199: 455-60
- Haslett P, Hempstead M, Seidman C, et al. The metabolic and immunologic effects of short-term thalidomide treatment of patients infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1997; 13 (12): 1047-54
- Jacobson JM, Greenspan JS, Spritzler J, et al. Thalidomide for the treatment of oral aphthous ulcers in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. N Engl J Med 1997; 336 (21): 1487-93
- Faure M, Thivolet J, Gaucherand M. Inhibition of PMN leukocytes chemotaxis by thalidomide. Arch Dermatol Res 1980; 269: 275-80
- Barnhill RL, Doll NJ, Millikan LE, et al. Studies on the antiinflammatory properties of thalidomide: effects on polymorphonuclear leukocytes and monocytes. J Am Acad Dermatol 1984; 11: 814-9
- Keenan RJ, Eiras G, Burckart GJ, et al. Immunosuppressive properties of thalidomide: inhibition of in vitro lymphocyte proliferation alone and in combination with cyclosporine of FK506. Transplantation 1991; 52: 908-10
- Shannon EJ, Mirand RO, Morales MJ, et al. Inhibition of de novo IgM antibody synthesis by thalidomide as a relevant mechanism of action in leprosy. Scand J Immunol 1981; 13: 553-62
- Atra E, Sato EI. Treatment of the cutaneous lesions of systemic lupus erythematosus with thalidomide. Clin Exp Rheumatol 1993; 11: 487-93
- Hastings RC. Kellersberger Memorial Lecture: immunosuppressive/anti-inflammatory thalidomide analogues. Ethiop Med J 1980; 18: 65

- Gad SM, Shannon EJ, Krotoski WA, et al. Thalidomide induces imbalances in T-lymphocyte sub-populations in the circulating blood of healthy males. Lepr Rev 1985; 56: 35-9
- Shannon EJ, Ejigu M, Haile-Mariam HS, et al. Thalidomide's effectiveness in erythema nodosum leprosum is associated with a decrease in CD4+ cells in the peripheral blood. Lepr Rev 1992; 63: 5-11
- Shannon EJ, Sandoval F, Krahenbuhl JL. Hydrolysis of thalidomide abrogates its ability to enhance mononuclear synthesis of IL-2 as well as its ability to suppress the synthesis of TNFα. Immunopharmacology 1997; 36: 9-15
- 22. Shannon E, Aseffa A, Pankey G, et al. Thalidomide's ability to augment the synthesis of IL-2 in vitro in HIV-infected patients is associated with the percentage of CD4+ cells in their blood. Immunopharmacology 2000; 46 (2000): 175-9
- D'Amato RJ, Loughnan MS, Flynn E, et al. Thalidomide is an inhibitor of angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91: 4082-5
- D'Amato RJ, Kenyon BM. Further studies examining the effects of thalidomide on angiogenesis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1995; 36 (4): 698 (1025)
- Folkman J. Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. N Engl J Med 1971; 285 (21): 1182-6
- Folkman J. Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease. Nature Med 1995; 1 (1): 27-31
- Folkman J. Clinical applications of research on angiogenesis. N Engl J Med 1995; 333 (26): 1757-63
- Harris AL. Antiangiogenesis for cancer therapy. Lancet 1997;
   349 Suppl. II: 13-5
- Jones A, Harris AL. New developments in angiogenesis: a major mechanism for tumor growth and target for therapy. Cancer J Sci Am 1998; 4 (4): 209-17
- 30. Teo SK, Colburn WA, Thomas SD. Single-dose oral pharmacokinetics of three formulations of thalidomide in healthy male volunteers. J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 39: 1162-8
- Scheffler MR, Colburn W, Kook WA, et al. Thalidomide does not alter estrogen-progesterone hormone single dose pharmacokinetics. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1999; 65 (5): 483-90
- New Drug Application (NDA) 20-785, Thalidomide for the treatment of erythema nodosum leprosum. Celgene Corporation, 1996
- 33. Tseng S, Pak G, Washenik K, et al. Rediscovering thalidomide: a review of its mechanism of action, side effects, and potential uses. J Am Acad Dermatol 1996; 35 (6): 969-79
- Chen TL, Vogelsang GB, Petty BG, et al. Plasma pharmacokinetics and urinary excretion of thalidomide after oral dosing in healthy male volunteers. Drug Metab Dispos 1989; 17: 402-5
- Noormohamed FQ, Youle MS, Higgs CJ, et al. Pharmacokinetics and hemodynamic effects of single oral doses of thalidomide in asymptomatic human immunodeficiency virus-infected subjects. AIDS Res Human Retroviruses 1999; 15 (12): 1047-52
- 36. Eriksson T, Bjørkman S, Roth B, et al. Enantiomers of thalidomide – blood distribution and the influence of serum albumin on chiral inversion and hydrolysis. Chirality 1998; 10 (3): 223-8
- Donahue SR, Collins JM, Flockhart DA, et al. Thalidomide pharmacokinetics do not change with chronic administration. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1997; 61: 236

- 38. Silva SRB, Viana PCF, Lugon NV, et al. Thalidomide for the treatment of uremic pruritus a crossover randomized double-blind trial. Nephron 1994; 67: 270-3
- Bielsa I, Teixidù J, Ribera M, et al. Erythroderma due to thalidomide – report of two cases. Dermatology 1994; 189: 179-81
- Teo SK, Sabourin PJ, O'Brien K, et al. Metabolism of thalidomide in human microsomes, cloned human cytochrome P-450 isozymes, and Hansen's disease patients. J Biochem Mol Toxicol 2000; 14 (3): 140-7
- Williams RT. Progress report hepatic metabolism of drugs. Gut 1972; 13: 579-85
- Somers GF. Pharmacologic properties of thalidomide (αphthalimido glutarimide), a new sedative hypnotic drug. Br J Pharmacol 1960; 15: 111-6
- Gònzler V. Thalidomide in human immunodeficiency virus patients: a review of safety considerations. Drug Saf 1992; 7: 116-34
- 44. Zeldis JB, Williams BA, Thomas SD, et al. S.T.E.P.S.™ a comprehensive program for controlling and monitoring access to thalidomide. Clin Ther 1999; 21 (2): 319-30
- THALOMID® capsules (thalidomide). Product labeling. Warren, (NJ): Celgene Corporation, 1998
- 46. Federal Register. Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration: expedited safety reporting requirements for human drug and biological products, final rule, 1997 Oct 7; 62 (No. 194): 52237-53
- Scott HD, Rosenbaum SE, Waters WJ, et al. Rhode Island physicians' recognition and reporting of adverse drug reactions. Rhode Is Med J 1987; 70: 311-6
- COSTART: coding symbols for a thesaurus of adverse reaction terms (5th ed.). Rockville (MD): US Food and Drug Administration, US Department of Commerce, National Technical Information Service, 1995
- Singhal S, Mehta J, Desikan R, et al. Antitumor activity of thalidomide in refractory multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med 1999; 341 (21): 1565-71
- 50. Koch HP. Thalidomide and cogeners as anti-inflammatory agents. Prog Med Chem 1985; 22: 165-242
- Haslett P, Tramontana J, Burroughs M, et al. Adverse reactions to thalidomide in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Clin Infect Dis 1997; 24: 1223-7
- Waters MFR. An internally-controlled double blind trial of thalidomide in severe erythema nodosum leprosum. Lepr Rev 1971; 42: 26-42
- Beall G, Sanwo M, Hussain H. Allergic disease in AIDS. Drug reactions and desensitization in AIDS. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 1997; 17 (2): 319-38
- Williams I, Weller IVD, Malin A, et al. Thalidomide hypersensitivity in AIDS. Lancet 1991; 337: 436-7
- Horowitz SB, Stirling AL. Thalidomide-induced toxic epidermal necrolysis. Pharmacotherapy 1999; 19 (10): 1177-80
- Rajkumar SV, Gertz MA, Witzig TE. Life-threatening toxic epidermal necrolysis with thalidomide therapy in myeloma. N Engl J Med 2000; 343 (13): 972-3
- 57. Gardner-Medwin JMM, Smith NJ, Powell RJ. Clinical experience with thalidomide in the management of severe oral and genital ulceration in conditions such as Behçet's disease use of neurophysiological studies to detect thalidomide neuropathy. Ann Rheum Dis 1994; 53: 828-32
- Vasiliauskas EA, Kam LY, Abreu-Martin MT, et al. An open-label pilot study of low-dose thalidomide in chronically active

- steroid-dependent Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 1999; 117 (6): 1-11
- Scoville CD, Reading JC. Open trial of thalidomide in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Rheum 1999; 5 (5): 1-7
- Revuz J, Guillaume JC, Janier M, et al. Crossover study of thalidomide vs placebo in severe recurrent aphthous stomatitis. Arch Dermatol 1990; 126 (7): 923-7
- Cazort RJ, Ye KS. A trial of thalidomide in progressive lepra reactions. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp 1966; 8 (6): 299-311
- Juliusson G, Celsing F, Turesson I, et al. Frequent good partial remissions from thalidomide including best response ever in patients with advanced refractory and relapsed myeloma. Br J Haematol 2000; 109: 89-96
- 63. Alexander IRW. Acute myxoedema. BMJ 1961; 2: 1434
- Lillicrap DA. Myxoedema after thalidomide (Distaval). BMJ 1962; 1: 477
- Simpson JA. Myxoedema after thalidomide (Distaval). BMJ 1962; 1: 55
- Fullerton PM, O'Sullivan DJ. Thalidomide neuropathy: a clinical, electrophysiological, and histological follow-up study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1968; 31: 543-51
- So YT, Holtzman DM, Abrams D, et al. Peripheral neuropathy associated with AIDS: prevalence and clinical features from a population-based survey. Arch Neurol 1988; 45: 945
- Hall C, Snyder CR, Messenheimer JA, et al. Peripheral nerve function in HIV infected subjects. Neuroscience of HIV Infection Satellite Conference. Seventh International Conference on AIDS; 1991 Jun; Padova
- Ochonisky S, Verroust J, Bastuji-Garin S, et al. Thalidomide neuropathy incidence and clinicoelectrophysiologic findings in 42 patients. Arch Dermatol 1994; 130: 66-9
- 70. Schaumburg HH. Neurotoxicity of drugs and neurologic assessments. Dermatologic and Ophthalmic Drugs 44th Advisory Committee Meeting, Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research; 1996 Nov 7; Rockville (MD)
- 71. Simpson D. Peripheral neuropathies associated with AIDS and retroviral drugs. Dermatologic and Ophthalmic Drugs 44th Advisory Committee Meeting, Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research; 1996 Nov 7; Rockville (MD)
- Chapon F, Lechevalier B, Da Silva DC, et al. Neuropathies à la thalidomide. Rev Neurol 1985; 141: 719-28
- Chaudhry V, Cornblath D, Corse A, et al. Thalidomide-induced neuropathy: clinical and electrophysiological features [abstract S27.003]. Neurology 1996; 46: A283
- Yoshioka M, Shapshak P, Srivastava AK, et al. Expression of HIV-1 and interleukin-6 in lumbosacral dorsal root ganglia of patients with AIDS. Neurology 1994; 44 (6): 1120-30
- Lagueny A, Rommel A, Vignolly B, et al. Thalidomide neuropathy: an electrophysiologic study. Muscle Nerve 1986; 9: 837-44
- Markarian Y, Wulff EA, Simpson DM. Peripheral neuropathy in HIV disease. AIDS Clin Care 1998; 10 (12): 89-98
- Wulff CH, Hoyer M, Asboe-Hansen G, et al. Development of neuropathy during thalidomide therapy. Br J Dermatol 1985; 112: 475-80
- Harland CC, Steventon GB, Marsden JR. Thalidomide-induced neuropathy and genetic differences in drug metabolism. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 49: 1-6

- Michelson E, Hollrah S. Evaluation of the patient with shortness of breath: an evidence based approach. Emerg Med Clin North Am 1999; 17 (1): 221-37
- Fulkerson WJ, Gockerman JP. Pulmonary disease induced by drugs. In: Fishman AP, editor. Pulmonary diseases and disorders, 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1988: 793-811
- Slonim NB, Hamilton LH, editors. Mechanics of breathing. In: Respiratory physiology, 4th ed. St. Louis: CV Mosby, 1981: 66-86
- Szidon PJ, Fishman AP. Approach to the pulmonary patient with respiratory signs and symptoms. In: Fishman AP, editor. Pulmonary diseases and disorders, 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1988: 313-66
- Campbell EJM, Guz A. Breathlessness. In: Hornbein TF, editor. Regulation of breathing. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1981: 1181-95
- Cherniack NS, Pack AI. Control of ventilation. In: Fishman AP, editor. Pulmonary diseases and disorders, 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1988: 131-44
- Gimenez S, Bagheri H, Marchiu B, et al. Bilan d'un suivi de pharmacovigilance de la zidovudine. Therapie 1990; 45: 407-9
- Northfelt DW. Hematologic aspects of HIV infection. In: Cohen PT, Sande MA, editors. The AIDS knowledge base. Boston: Little Brown and Co., 1994
- Coyle TE. Hematologic complications of human immunodeficiency virus infection and the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Med Clin North Am 1997; 81 (2): 450-70
- Fine HA, Loeffler JS, Kyritsis A, et al. A phase II trial of the anti-angiogenic agent, thalidomide, in patients with recurrent high-grade gliomas [meeting abstract]. Proc Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol 1997; 16: A1372
- Prandoni P, Lensing AWA, Böller HR, et al. Deep-vein thrombosis and the incidence of subsequent symptomatic cancer. N Engl J Med 1992; 327 (16): 1128-33
- 90. Green KB, Silverstein RL. Hypercoagulability in cancer. Hematol/Oncol Clin North Am 1996; 10 (2): 499-530
- 91. Sgarabotto D, Prandoni P, Stefani PM, et al. Prevalence and patterns of symptomatic thromboembolism in oncohematology. Haematologica 1998; 83: 442-6
- Prandoni P, Piccioli A, Girolami A. Cancer and venous thromboembolism: an overview. Haematologica 1999; 84: 437-45
- 93. Luzzatto G, Schafer AI. The prethrombotic state in cancer. Semin Oncol 1990; 17 (2): 147-59
- Ambrus JL, Ambrus CM, Pickren JW. Causes of death in cancer patients. J Med 1975; 6: 61-4
- Zuffa M, Kubancok J, Horvat A. The thromboembolic disease as a paraneoplastic syndrome. Neoplasm 1982; 29: 241-4
- Liebman H, Chinowsky M, Valdin J, et al. Increased fibrinolysis and amyloidosis. Arch Intern Med 1983; 143 (4): 678-82
- Tefferi A, Nichols WL, Bowie EJ. Circulating heparin-like anticoagulants: report of five consecutive cases and a review. Am J Med 1988; 88 (2): 184-8
- Deitcher SR, Erban JK, Limentani SA. Acquired free protein S deficiency associated with multiple myeloma: a case report. Am J Hematol 1996; 51 (4): 319-23
- Piccioli A, Prandoni P, Ewenstein BM, et al. Cancer and venous thromboembolism. Am Heart J 1996; 132 (4): 850-5
- Gordon SG, Mielicki WP. Cancer procoagulant: a factor X activator, tumor marker and growth factor from malignant tissue. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 1997; 8 (2): 73-86

- 101. Amirkhosravi A, Meyer T, Warnes G, et al. Pentoxifylline inhibits hypoxia-induced upregulation of tumor cell tissue factor and vascular endothelial growth factor. Thromb Haemost 1998; 80 (4): 598-602
- Francis JL, Biggerstaff J, Amirkhosravi A. Hemostasis and malignancy. Semin Thromb Hemost 1998; 24 (2): 93-109
- Auriche M, Loupi E. Does proof of causality ever exist in pharmacovigilance? Drug Saf 1993; 9: 230-5
- 104. Begaud B, Moride Y, Tubert-Bitter P, et al. False-positives in spontaneous reporting: should we worry about them? Br J Pharmacol 1994; 38: 401-4
- 105. Hauser WA, Hesdorffer DC. Epilepsy: frequency, causes and consequences. New York: Demos Publications and Epilepsy Foundation of America, 1990: 1-51
- Swenson KK, Rose MA, Ritz L, et al. Recognition and evaluation of oncology-related symptoms in the emergency department. Ann Emerg Med 1995; 26: 12
- 107. Levin VA, Leibel SA, Gutin PH. Neoplasms of the central nervous system. In: DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA, editors. Cancer: principles and practice of oncology, 5th ed. Philadelphia (PA): Lippincott-Raven, 1992: 2021-82
- 108. Fetell MR. Tumors: general considerations. In: Rowland LP, editor. Merritt's textbook of neurology, 9th ed. Baltimore (MD): Williams & Wilkins, 1995: 313-20
- 109. Lange B, O'Neill JA, Goldwein JW, et al. Oncologic emergencies. In: Pizzo PA, editor. Principles and practice of pediatric oncology, 3rd ed. Philadelphia (PA): Lippincott-Raven Publishers, 1997: 1025-49
- 110. Annegers JF, Hauser WA, Lee RJ, et al. Incidence of acute symptomatic seizures in Rochester, Minnesota, 1935-1984. Epilepsia 1995; 36: 321-33
- Medical Research Council Working Party. Report on the second myelomatosis trial after five years follow-up. Br J Cancer 1980; 42: 813- 22
- 112. Kapadia SB. Multiple myeloma: a clinicopathologic study of 62 consecutively autopsied cases. Medicine (Baltimore) 1980; 59: 380-92
- 113. Kyle RA. Monoclonal gammopathies and the kidney. Annu Rev Med 1989; 40: 53-60
- 114. Hill GS. Dysproteinemias, amyloidosis, and immunotactoid glomerulopathy. In: Heptinstall RH, editor. Pathology of the kidney, 4th ed. Boston: Little Brown, 1992: 1631-714
- 115. Ivanyi B, Varga G, Berkessy S. Renal disease in multiple myeloma. Geriatr Nephrol Urol 1992; 2: 25-34
- 116. Iggo N. Management of renal complications. In: Malpas JS, Bergsagel DE, Kyle RA, et al., editors. Myeloma biology and management, 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press, 1998: 381-401
- Roth HL, Drislane FW. Neurologic emergencies: seizures. Neurol Clin 1998; 16 (2): 257-84
- Sundal E, Businger J, Boughton K. Recombinant human erythropoietin (r-HuEPO). A comprehensive clinical review. Drugs Today 1989; 25: 799-816
- 119. Eschbach JW, Abdulhadi MH, Brown JK, et al. Recombinant human erythropoietin in anemic patients with end-stage renal disease. Results of a phase III multicenter clinical trial. Ann Intern Med 1989; 111: 992-1000
- Churchill DN. Results of a Canadian morbidity study in endstage renal disease patients treated by hemodialysis. Semin Nephrol 1990; 10 Suppl. 1: 66-72

- 121. Sundal E, Businger J, Kappelar A. Treatment of transfusion-dependent anaemia of chronic renal failure with recombinant human erythropoietin. A European multicentre study in 142 patients to define dose regimen and safety profile. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1991: 6: 955-65
- 122. Kanard AM, Kane G, Thome SD, et al. Thalidomide associated with seizures and neuroradiologic features suggestive of reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome (RPLS) in the setting of multiple myeloma and renal failure [abstract 4618]. Blood 1999; 94 (10 Suppl. 1): 311b
- 123. Kuhn WL, Van Maanen EF. Effects of thalidomide on central nervous system drugs. Federation Proceedings 1960; Fed Am Soc Exp Biol 1960 Mar; 19 (1): 264
- 124. Frederickson RCA, Slater IH, Dusenberry WE, et al. A comparison of thalidomide and pentobarbital new methods for identifying novel hypnotic drugs. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1977; 203 (1): 240-51
- 125. Walkenhorst A. Das hypnotisch und sedativ wirkende N-Phthalyl-Glutaminsäure-Imid (Contergan im Handel von Chemie Grünenthal) als geeignetes Provokationsmittel bei hirnelektrischen Untersuchungen. Wien Klin Wochenschr 1957; 69: 334-9
- 126. Malow BA. Sleep and epilepsy. Neurol Clin 1996; 14 (4): 765-89127. Gibbs EL, Gibbs FA. Diagnostic and localizing value of electroencephalographic studies in sleep. Res Publ Assoc Res Nerv Ment Dis 1947; 23: 366-76
- McCormick PA, Scott F, Epstein O, et al. Thalidomide as therapy for primary biliary cirrhosis: a double-blind placebo controlled pilot study. J Hepatol 1994; 21: 496-9
- Wolkenstein P, Latarjet J, Roujeau J-C, et al. Randomised comparison of thalidomide versus placebo in toxic epidermal necrolysis. Lancet 1998; 352: 1586-9
- Battegay EJ. Angiogenesis: mechanistic insights, neovascular diseases, and therapeutic prospects. J Mol Med 1995;
   73: 333-46
- 131. Ferrara N. The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor, a specific regulator of angiogenesis. In: Ziegler TR, Pierce GF, Herndon DN, editors. Growth factors and wound healing. New York (NY): Springer-Verlag, 1997: 317-32
- 132. van Hinsbergh VWM, Koolwijk P, Hanemaaijer R. Role of fibrin and plasminogen in repair-associated angiogenesis: in vitro studies with human endothelial cells. In: Goldberg ID, Rosen EM, editors. Regulation of angiogenesis. Basel: Birkhäuser Verlag, 1997: 391-411
- 133. Klein S, Roghani M, Rifkin DB. Fibroblast growth factors as angiogenesis factors: new insights into their mechanism of action. In: Goldberg ID, Rosen EM, editors. Regulation of angiogenesis. Basel: Birkhäuser Verlag, 1997: 159-92
- 134. Arlein WJ, Caldwell MD. Endogenous growth factors and nutrients in the healing wound. In: Ziegler TR, Pierce GF, Herndon DN, editors. Growth factors and wound healing. New York (NY): Springer-Verlag, 1997: 186-205
- 135. Rohovsky S, D'Amore PA. Growth factors and angiogenesis in wound healing. In: Ziegler TR, Pierce GF, Herndon DN, editors. Growth factors and wound healing. New York (NY): Springer-Verlag, 1997: 8-26
- 136. Or R, Feferman R, Shoshan S. Thalidomide reduces vascular density in granulation tissue of subcutaneously implanted polyvinyl alcohol sponges in guinea pigs. Exp Hematol 1998; 26: 217-21

- Uthoff K, Zehr KJ, Gaudin PB, et al. Thalidomide as replacement for steroids in immunosuppression after lung transplantation. Ann Thorac Surg 1995; 59: 277-82
- Periman LM, Sires BS. Full-thickness skin grafting of eyelids in a patient with generalized morphea taking thalidomide. Arch Ophthalmol 2000; 118: 135-6
- Devereux DF, Kent H, Brennan MF. Time-dependent effects of adriamycin and X-ray therapy on wound healing in the rat. Cancer 1980; 45: 2805
- Brennan MF, Casper ES, Harrison LB. Soft tissue sarcoma. In: DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA, editors. Cancer: prin-

- ciples and practice of oncology, 5th ed. New York (NY): Lippincott-Raven Publishers, 1997: 1772
- 141. Adzick NS. Wound healing biologic and clinical features. In: Sabiston DC, editor. Textbook of surgery, 15th ed. Philadelphia (PA): WB Saunders Company, 1997: 215

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Todd E. Clark*, Celgene Corporation, 7 Powder Horn Drive, Warren, NJ 07059, USA.

E-mail: tclark@celgene.com